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Durham University is the trading name of the University of Durham



In relation to the year under review, 
Professor Ray Hudson was Acting Vice-
Chancellor from October 2014 until 
he handed over the reins to me at the 
beginning of September 2015. I am 
grateful to Ray and his colleagues for 
all their hard work.

The University has continued to build on its 

achievements of recent years, as set out in 

some detail in the Review of the Year later in 

this document. Highlighted here are some of 

its more significant features: 

1.  We have again retained or improved our 

league table positions, both in the UK 

and internationally, through sustained 

excellence in research and education. 

We were particularly pleased to rise 31 

places to 61st in the QS World rankings, 

following a change in the way that subject 

areas were weighted against one another. 

We also rose 13 places to 70th in the 

recently published THE world rankings. 

Domestically, the Times and Sunday Times 

placed us 5th in 2015.

2.  In December 2014 the results from the 

Research Excellence Framework (REF) 

demonstrated that 83% of our research 

was internationally excellent or world 

leading quality in the years 2008-2013 

inclusive and this enabled us to maintain 

the level of funding deriving from this peer 

review exercise. We strive to be recognised 

internationally for creative thought and 

transformative research of the highest 

calibre. 

3.  Following on from last year’s independent 

review of our ten-year Strategy to 2020, 

work has taken place throughout the 

year to review the University’s Strategy 

in each of its fundamental components: 

research and engagement; education; 

the wider student experience. This is an 

iterative process, with many enabling 

features becoming fully defined only 

when the overall academic direction has 

been agreed. Once the entire Strategy is 

complete, this will enable sub-strategies 

to be set in place to ensure that the 

necessary infrastructure and support 

services are designed and built to underpin 

the academic work of the University as it 

develops into the next decade.

4.  Despite a financial environment which 

remains extremely challenging, we have 

again returned a financial surplus above 

our initial budget. This enables us to 

continue investing in infrastructure 

development and refurbishment. The 

changes to the system of undergraduate 

funding for universities are now complete 

and a majority of our income is today 

derived directly from our students. 

2014/15 again saw very strong demand 

for student places at Durham and initial 

recruitment for the following year is also 

looking very positive. At present our 

short term plans contain only modest 

growth proposals, but this is under review 

as described above. We also continue 

to provide a very generous scheme of 

bursaries and scholarships (on top of our 

already extensive outreach activities) to 

enhance access to Durham for the most 

able and motivated students from all 

backgrounds. Our pioneering Supported 

Progression Scheme, recognised as an 

exemplar by the Office of Fair Access, 

continues to deliver good results. A key 

strength at Durham is the research-led 

nature of our courses whereby all our 

students have direct access to some of the 

world’s finest academic minds. 

5.  At Durham, education is about much more 

than academic success, critical though 

that certainly is. The ‘Durham experience’ 

also involves the personal development 

of our students through extra-curricular 

activities, particularly the arts, sport and 

volunteering at which our students excel. 

Durham continues to lead all other UK 

Universities in sport participation, sport 

outreach to disadvantaged communities, 

and elite team sport and Durham has the 

best volunteer programme of any University 

in the UK. Congratulations go to all those 

students who helped Durham to retain its 

second place in the British Universities 

and Colleges Sport overall league table 

with a record total of over 4,000 points. 

We were very pleased to be recognised for 

this consistent success by being named 

Sport University of the Year by the Times 

and Sunday Times.

6.  Major capital projects this year have 

included ground-breaking on a new 

building to house research in Physics, 

for which we are receiving substantial 

philanthropic financial support, and 

continuation of the project to invest in 

major IT infrastructure. Alongside annual 

renewal to the residential estate we are 

continuing to examine the scale of our 

residential accommodation provision. 

7.  Building on the success of the Lindisfarne 

Gospels exhibition, this year Durham 

University hosted a major exhibition 

celebrating the 800th anniversary of the 

Magna Carta. The exhibition featured the 

only surviving 1216 issue of the Charter, 

loaned by Durham Cathedral.

I am very pleased to introduce the above 

highlights and the review of the year that 

follows. I am also looking forward to helping 

lead the University to even greater prominence 

amongst its peers, both in the UK and 

overseas, in the years to come.

Finally, I would like to add my thanks to all 

staff and students who have helped Durham 

University build the achievements set out 

in this report. I am confident that with their 

continuing help, and the help of our alumni 

and supporters, the future for Durham 

University will be a very successful one. 

Professor Stuart Corbridge 
Vice-Chancellor and Warden

Vice-Chancellor’s foreword
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Organisation Profile 
Shaped by the past : creating the future

Durham University (“the University”) is committed 

to seeking the highest distinction in research and 

scholarship and to excellence in all aspects of 

education and the transmission of knowledge. It 

promotes individual participation in a scholarly 

community providing a rounded education in 

which students gain both the academic and 

personal skills required to succeed in life and 

make a difference in their chosen field.

Durham is not a traditional campus university, 

but has evolved over time with departments and 

colleges embedded within its local communities 

in Durham and Stockton in the North East of 

England. At the heart of the University is the 

magnificent medieval UNESCO World Heritage 

Site which is shared with Durham Cathedral.

The University has approximately 17,000 

students, both undergraduate and graduate, 

and over 3,800 full time equivalent staff. As 

the University has grown, its departments and 

colleges have remained on a human scale – at a 

size in which staff and students can work together 

and support each other. This offers exceptional 

opportunities for productive exchanges and 

attracts many of the most able students and staff 

from around the world.

Every student belongs to one of the University’s 

16 colleges. These are not teaching bodies, 

but are small communities of undergraduate 

and postgraduate students and staff from all 

disciplines who eat, study and relax together, 

providing support and opportunities to excel and 

develop such qualities as leadership, open-

mindedness, curiosity and social responsibility. 

Two colleges, St Chad’s and St John’s, are 

established as independent foundations.

The University’s teaching and research 

programmes are delivered through departments 

organised into three faculties of Arts & 

Humanities, Social Sciences & Health and 

Science. 

The University has also established nine Research 

Institutes to bring together researchers from 

different disciplines to tackle questions of global 

significance. 

In addition to its academic faculties, research 

institutes and colleges, the University’s activities 

are underpinned by professional support services 

led by the Chief Operating Officer (Registrar) and 

Chief Financial Officer (Treasurer). 

More information about the University is available 

on the following web pages: 

www.durham.ac.uk/about

www.durham.ac.uk/colleges

www.durham.ac.uk/departments

www.durham.ac.uk/research/institutes

Governance

The University is an autonomously governed 
institution established by Statute. Council is the 
governing body of the University and, subject 
to the powers of Senate in relation to academic 
matters, has ultimate responsibility for all the 
affairs of the University. The University Executive 
Committee is chaired by the Vice-Chancellor and 
Warden.

The University is a charity, founded in 1832 by 
Act of Parliament and granted a Royal Charter in 
1837. The University is exempt from registration 
as a charity under Schedule 3 of the Charities Act 
2011. The Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (“the Funding Council”) is the regulator 
for all higher education charities.

The University now receives a relatively small 
proportion of its funding directly from public 
sources, with the majority of funding coming 
in student fees, competitively won grants and 
philanthropic gifts. A Memorandum of assurance 
and accountability with the Funding Council 
establishes the University’s accountability for 
the public funding it receives from the Funding 
Council.

As a charity, the University must operate for the 
public benefit. This is reported on in the next 
section of this review. 

Members of the University Council are the charity 
trustees and details of Council membership 
during the years 2014/15, and 2015/16 (where 
different) are given below. No trustees received 
any payment for their trustee duties. Details of 
the total expenses paid in relation to trustee 
duties and Related Party transactions are reported 
in notes 8 and 33 to the financial statements 
respectively.

Members of University Council

Ex-officio members

The Chancellor, 
 Sir Thomas Allen 

The Vice-Chancellor and Warden, 
 Professor C F Higgins  
 (to September 2014)

 Professor S E Corbridge  
 (from September 2015)

The Deputy Vice-Chancellor  
(Acting Vice-Chancellor from  
October 2014 to August 2015) 
 Professor R Hudson

The Dean of Durham,  
  The Very Reverend M Sadgrove  

(to September 2015)

  Canon D Kennedy  

(acting Dean from September 2015)

The President of Durham Students’ Union,  
 Mr D Slavin (2014/15)

 Ms M Tanner (2015/16)

Appointed members 
of University staff

Dr A Allen (2015/16)

Professor T Allen (2014/15)

Professor M J Bentley 

Professor J P Davidson 

Professor J Elliott  

Professor A J Long (2014/15)

Professor C McGlynn 

Professor N D B Saul 

Appointed lay members

Mrs J Barker (2015/16)

Mr R Burge

Ms A Cleveland 

Mr J Docherty 

Ms F Ellis 

Mr S Gardner (2014/15) 

Mr R Gillespie (Chair)

Mr S Harman 

Mrs A Hastings (2015/16)

Mrs S Johnson 

Mrs J May 

Mr A Mitchell

Dr K Pretty 

Mr H Morgan Williams (2014/15)

Operating and Financial Review
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Public Benefit

 
Durham University’s objects were established in 
its initial charter and related Acts of Parliament 
and are very widely drawn, being essentially the 
advancement of learning. The University’s Statutes 
charge its Senate and Council with the powers to 
promote education, learning and research.

The University has adopted a Strategy 2010-
2020 to achieve excellence in research 
and education which may be found at www.
durham.ac.uk/resources/about/strategy/
Finalfullstrategydocument.pdf. In setting and 
reviewing the University’s strategic objectives, 
Council has had due regard to the Charity 
Commission’s guidance on public benefit. 

Durham and the North East of England is 
the birthplace of English scholarship and the 
University traces its roots back to the 7th 
Century when Bede (who is buried in Durham) 
wrote his History of the English Church and 
People.

Innovation for the public good has been part of 
the University’s ethos from the beginning and 
continues to extend the boundaries of human 
knowledge. This is encapsulated in our values 
which include:

•  to value knowledge and learning for their own 
sake and for their ethical, cultural, social and 
economic benefits;

•  to communicate our knowledge and learning 
for the benefit of all;

•  to promote diversity, respect for others and 
equality of opportunity; and

•  to measure all we do against the standards of 
an ethical and sustainable world

Public benefit is embedded in our strategic aims 
and objectives and reporting of progress towards 
achieving these is contained in the Review of the 
Year on pages 08 to 14. Specific information is 
provided below about how the University delivers 
public benefit in all its activities.

Education

The University’s admissions policy is to attract 

and admit the most able and motivated students 

with the greatest potential to contribute to, 

and to benefit from, the education we provide, 

irrespective of their background. Our admissions 

procedures and extensive provision of bursaries 

are designed to support this policy fully. Further 

information on our admission policy is available 

at: www.durham.ac.uk/undergraduate/policy

Our bursaries and scholarships include 

the Durham Grant Scheme which supports 

undergraduate students from low income 

households and provides over 2,500 awards 

amounting to approximately £5.6 million; Vice-

Chancellor’s Scholarships which are awarded 

for excellence academically and in sport, music 

and the arts, of which 142 have been awarded 

amounting to £0.3 million. In addition, Robert 

Young and St Nicolas’ Trust scholarships are 

available to support gifted undergraduates from 

County Durham and the City of Newcastle. We 

also offer specific student hardship funding of 

which around 150 awards are made annually 

amounting to around £0.17 million.

In addition, we engage in activities to promote 

higher education and support fair access, both 

locally and nationally. We attend a large number 

of undergraduate and postgraduate recruitment 

events and host a number of school and college 

visits. We also host summer schools, open days 

and teachers’ conferences as well as offering 

campus tours throughout the year for prospective 

students. We attend 35 UCAS conventions, visit 

in excess of 120 schools and colleges, speak to 

over 50,000 potential applicants and receive 

over 25,000 visitors to Open Days each year. We 

work with students with a wide variety of ages 

and backgrounds through our outreach projects. 

Our “Supported Progression” scheme offers 

residential programmes and ongoing online 

support as well as bursary provision to 250 

talented students in Year 12 and Year 13 from 

schools and colleges in Cumbria, the North-East 

and West Yorkshire to help them achieve their 

full academic potential. Our three Sutton Trust 

Summer Schools offer 360 gifted and talented 

Year 12 students from all over the UK a week-

long residential academic programme. We work 

in partnership with the other universities in the 

North East to deliver widening participation 

activities to students under 16 years of age 

along with their families and advisers. The North 

East Raising Aspirations Partnership delivers 

activity to over 8,500 individuals.

The University promotes among all its students 

excellence in sport, culture and voluntary 

activities, and the opportunities they provide for 

stimulating personal development and the well-

being of the community. Many of our students 

represent or go on to represent their country at 

their chosen sport. More still provide leadership 

in their career and give back to the University 

and society more generally both in terms of 

funding and expertise. 

We provide exceptional pastoral care for all 

students through college communities and best 

practice from professional support services. This 

results in one of the best completion rates in the 

country for first degree studies. 

Durham graduates are in high demand with 

employers, as evidenced by our recent ranking 

of 31st in the QS world rankings for employer 

reputation. Our Careers Employability and 

Enterprise Centre assists all students, including 

graduates, to plan their next career move 

with services that include personal advice by 

appointment, psychometric testing and general 

careers information delivered through themed 

talks and supported by information rooms 

providing comprehensive careers resources. 

Research

Publication of research outcomes is a standard 
condition of research funding agreements, 
thereby enhancing the corpus of publicly 
available knowledge. 

We aim to deliver research in each of our 
disciplines that addresses questions and issues 
with the potential to make significant impact 
on knowledge, people or the economy, or to 
enhance or change society for the better. One 
area of research with immediate public benefit 
is carried out by the Wolfson Institute and 
focuses on medicine, health and the wellbeing 
of people and places with particular emphasis 
on the North East of England and involves 
extensive collaborative links with colleagues in 
the National Health Service. In addition, we are 
engaging with the energy efficiency agenda not 
only to identify technical innovations but also to 
consider the societal impacts of the transition to 
a low carbon environment. 

In the 2014 Research Excellence Framework 
assessment, 83% of the research submitted was 
of international significance or world-leading 
and our research-led approach to teaching 
ensures that study programmes are intellectually 
challenging and delivered by leading academics. 

World

The University will work wherever is appropriate 
on major world issues and develop international 
partnerships that benefit from, and contribute 
to, national and international agendas. We bring 
leading students and scholars to Durham from 
around the world and educate leaders for the 
world.

Operating and Financial Review continued
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Community

The University works in partnership with other 
agencies such as Durham County Council, 
the North East Chamber of Commerce, local 
community and voluntary groups in order to 
share insights, professional expertise and values. 
Membership of bodies such as the County 
Durham Cultural Partnership and the Durham 
Area Action Partnership aim to improve the 
locality in which the University is situated.

The University shares ownership and 
management of the UNESCO World Heritage 
Site with Durham Cathedral and takes pride in 
ensuring that it, together with the surrounding 
peninsula, is maintained and enhanced as a 
place to live and work, for staff, students and 
visitors alike. Following on from the successful 
Lindisfarne Gospels exhibition in 2013, this year 
we hosted at the World Heritage Site a major 
exhibition celebrating the 800th anniversary of 
the sealing of the Magna Carta. 

The University provides a range of expertise and 
support to local communities through its staff 
volunteering and outreach scheme, which offers 
staff an opportunity to participate in voluntary 
work. Students are also active in raising funds 
for charity and in community action projects.

The University provides facilities open to 
the public, including lectures and concerts, 
museums, sports facilities and other visitor 
attractions. This is only part of the local impact 
of the University – further details may be found 
on the following pages: www.durham.ac.uk/
whatson

Sustainability

We strive to be a socially responsible institution 
and objectives in this section of our Strategy 
include contributing effectively to economic 
and social development through knowledge 
exchange, enterprise and entrepreneurship; 
establishing partnerships with businesses, social 
enterprises and public sector organisations 
which facilitate translation of our knowledge 
and understanding to wider benefit; raising 
educational aspirations through our work and 
leadership in schools and academies, with 
an emphasis on our locality; and promoting 
volunteering and community engagement as a 
means of using our expertise to contribute to 
social well-being.

We aim to be environmentally responsible, 
ensuring that our buildings are constructed and 
maintained to high environmental standards and 
that renewable energy is used wherever possible. 
We are working to reduce our environmental 

footprint through responsible utilities and 
waste management and by developing and 
implementing a green communication and travel 
policy. 

Strategy

The University’s key objectives are set out in its 
Strategy 2010-2020 (“the Strategy”) which can 
be found at www.durham.ac.uk/resources/about/
strategy/Finalfullstrategydocument.pdf and may 
be summarised as follows:

Introduction

Durham University’s excellence in research and 
education places it among the top five universities 
in the UK yet we believe we can achieve even 
more. We provide our students with a distinctive, 
collegiate and research-led education but need 
to ensure that this is better understood by all 
potential students. In several areas of research 
across the sciences, social sciences and the 
humanities the University is recognised as among 
the top handful of institutions in the world; we 
need to achieve similar recognition across all 
our disciplines. Perhaps because of our relative 
size and location we have not been as visible 
internationally as some of our peers. While 
exceptionally well-regarded in the UK, Durham 
University has yet to reach its full potential on the 
world stage.

The educational world has changed and expanded 
rapidly over the past few years, and it will continue 
to do so. We will see increasing competition for 
students, staff and resources both within the UK 
and from overseas. In particular, Higher Education 
in the United Kingdom is enduring a time of 
political and financial uncertainty, with significant 
cuts in public spending, continuing uncertainty 
about government contributions to student fees, 
and increasingly fierce competition for research 
funding. This poses a number of significant 
challenges. Only through excellence in research 
and education across all its areas of activity will 
the University continue to compete successfully 
for the best staff and students, and provide the 
resources necessary for all to study and work 
effectively. 

Our Strategy is ambitious, aimed at ensuring that 
Durham University is recognised as an international 
exemplar of the best in research and research-
led education. Its aim is for Durham to be widely 
recognised as one of the top 5 universities in the 
UK and the top 50 in the world. To achieve this 
we will build on what already makes the University 
distinctive, the human scale of our university 
communities - our departments and colleges. It is 
not through size that we seek to make an impact, 

but rather by achieving the highest standards of 
excellence in all we do. 

A true world university is one which is recognised 
as a place where leading students and scholars 
both reside and wish to visit from around the globe, 
and one which educates and sends leaders around 
the world. Our Strategy ‘2010 to 2020; Excellence 
in Research and Education’ aims to deliver this 
ambition.

Research

We will be recognised, internationally, for 

creative thought and transformative research of 

the highest calibre across a broad subject base 

of sciences, social sciences, and the humanities.

Our research and scholarship will benefit from 

and help to shape national and international 

agendas. We will foster new subject-specific, 

interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary ideas. 

Our research will generate outcomes which 

enhance social and human wellbeing, or have 

the potential to do so through shaping academic 

disciplines. We aim to be a place where the most 

motivated postgraduate students and leading 

researchers choose to work and visit.

Education

We will achieve the highest standards in 

research-led education for both undergraduates 

and postgraduates, linking research and 

education in creative ways. We will provide a 

stimulating environment that empowers all to 

learn and develop to their full potential. We will 

foster enjoyment and esteem of independent 

learning, both formal and informal. We will 

welcome the most able and motivated students, 

whatever their background.

A Durham University education will build on our 

traditional and distinctive approach to academic 

and personal development. Students will engage 

directly with world-leading scholars in our 

academic departments, supported by exceptional 

opportunities for personal development in 

our residential college communities. Durham 

students will be challenged by the biggest 

issues in their academic discipline while at the 

same time developing and honing skills such 

as teamwork, creativity and leadership through 

opportunities to excel outside their formal 

learning environment, particularly through sport, 

culture and community engagement. They will 

be exceptionally well prepared for their future 

lives and employment. 

Operating and Financial Review continued
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Key Performance Indicators 

Accompanying the Strategy are Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) used to monitor progress towards 
the goals which are reported regularly to the Executive Committee and Council. Performance during 
2014/15 has continued to be consistently good, as shown by the extracts below – these are a small but 
representative sub-set of the full suite of KPIs by which the University’s performance is measured. 

Embedded in the University’s research and 

education are three ideals:

A World University

Internationalisation at Durham means 
recognising the benefits of individual and 
cultural diversity in all our activities. We will 
learn from and embed best international practice 
in everything we do. We will work, wherever is 
appropriate, on major world issues and develop 
international partnerships that benefit from and 
contribute to national and international agendas. 
We will bring leading students and scholars to 
Durham University from around the world, and 
educate leaders for the world. 

 

Community and Place 
– staff, students and alumni

Durham University is its communities of staff, 
students and alumni, shaped by the places in 
which we live, study and work. We will work, 
in partnership as appropriate, to maintain and 
enhance the University, its local environments 
and its communities as places in which all can 
realise their full potential.

 

Sustainability 
– long-term financial, social 
and environmental responsibilities

We will use our strengths in scholarship, 
research and education to achieve progressive 
social, environmental and economic benefits, 
locally and internationally. We will generate, 
invest and manage resources to deliver a 
sustainable and long-term future for the 
University community, and excellence in 
research and education.

Each of these themes has a number of aims 
and objectives which in turn have led to the 
development of priorities for which action plans 
are in place.

Mid-term review

In 2014 we took the opportunity to carry out a 
high level review of progress against the Strategy 
to identify any course correction needed in the 
light of the changing external environment. 
That review endorsed the strategic aims and 
during 2014/15 we have undertaken a review of 
Academic Strategy which, once concluded, will 
guide future decisions at all levels in Education, 
Research, Professional Support and related 
Infrastructure. The review of Academic Strategy 
is expected to report to Council in 2016.

Financial Performance

Annual operating 
surplus for 
reinvestment at 
level determined 
by Council

To contain pay 
costs to 60% of 
total income

Turnover

Operating surplus £’million 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Actual operating surplus* 18.67 10.65 10.85 12.20 21.90

Council target 5.00 3.44 5.24 9.12 11.20

* Operating surplus per internal management accounts

Expenditure on staff salaries 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

% of total net income 54.6%* 54.7%* 55% 54.9% 54.3%**

 
*Excluding cost of Voluntary Severance Scheme 
** Income excludes RDEC claim

Total income £’million 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Total net income 255.10 263.93 283.34 303.86 328.01

Key Performance Indicators – Strategic Plan 2010-2020

League Table Position

To be in the top 
5 universities in 
major UK league 
tables

League Table 2011 2012 2013 2014  2015

The Sunday Times University Guide 3rd 4th * * *

The Independent Complete University Guide 5th 5th 5th 5th 5th

The Times Good University Guide 6th 5th 6th 6th 5th

League Table 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

The THE World University Rankings 83rd 80th 80th 83rd 70th 

To be in the top 
50 universities in 
the Times Higher 
Education** world 
rankings by 2020

Operating and Financial Review continued

* The Sunday Times University Guide has been merged with Times Good University Guide from 2013.

** The QS World rankings are also monitored, in which Durham has progressed 31 places to 61st in the latest issue. 
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Review of the Year

Introduction

The University has made further progress towards 
achieving its strategic aims during 2014/15 and 
continues to excel in the challenging environment 
of modern Higher Education. Change continues 
to impact our activities in almost every area. We 
acknowledge its impact and are making good 
progress in our aim to ensure that Durham is 
recognised as an international exemplar of the 
best in research and research-led education. This 
section of the financial statements considers 
both the progress made during the year 2014/15 
against each of our strategic themes and the 
challenges to come as we strive to deliver our 
strategic objectives. 

Research

Research Excellence Framework  
(REF) 2014

A significant part of this year’s research cycle 
was the University’s performance in the REF 
2014. REF is the method of assessing the 
quality of research at British higher education 
institutions and REF 2014 assessed the 
research that was undertaken during the period 
2008–2013. As well as informing funding 
allocations, the REF provides accountability for 
public investment in research, demonstrates its 
benefits, and provides important reputational 
yardsticks and benchmarking information about 
the research performance of UK universities.

REF 2014 identified world-leading research in 
every subject at Durham. More than 25% of the 
subjects entered were in the top 5 nationally 
for grade point average (overall score). Areas 
of particular strength included Anthropology, 
Archaeology, Chemistry, Classics, Education, 
English, Geography, Music, Physics and 
Theology. The University’s research breadth and 
power was demonstrated in a submission of 
more than three-quarters of staff from all three 
faculties across 22 Units of Assessment. 83% 
of Durham’s submitted research was assessed as 
“internationally excellent quality” or “world-
leading” (that is, either 3* or 4*). Overall, 98% 
of Durham’s submitted research was assessed 
as international quality and the University’s 
research environment was found to be of 
international quality across the board. 

One of the new assessment criteria introduced 
for REF 2014 was the wider societal impact 
of university research. Durham submitted 
89 impact case studies where research had 
translated into real-life applications with broad 
benefits to society, the economy, politics and 
the environment. Over 90% of case studies were 
graded 3* and 4* - as having “outstanding” or 
“very considerable” impacts in terms of their 
reach and significance.

Operating and Financial Review continued
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1.  The University finalised preparations for 
receiving and analysing REF 2014 in 
December 2014. 

2.  Prepare for future research assessment, 
in particular the developments for REF 
2020.

3.  Enhance the overall research grant 
performance of the University including 
improving our external research funding 
success and maximising engagement 
with sponsors.

4.  Implement the University Strategy for 
Impact, ensuring impact is recorded, 
monitored and developed and seedcorn 
funding for impact is maximised.

5.  Progress the Research Information 
System project to improve processes and 
implement a system that the University 
will use to support and manage research 
activity across all functions.

6.  Drive developments in communicating 
our research portfolio and success.

7.  Build on industrial - institutional 
partnerships

8.  Implementation of the Concordat to 
Support Research Integrity issued by 
Universities UK, continuing to support 
the career development of researchers 
and recognise the importance of 
Equality and Diversity for research in 
Durham.

As detailed above, 83% of Durham research 
was assessed as ‘internationally excellent’ 
or ‘world leading’, in our submission which 
returned 76% of all eligible staff.

Using our detailed analysis and understanding 
of REF 2014 and Durham’s performance, 
we are continuing to develop plans and 
a timetable for delivering against future 
external research assessment and alongside 
Departmental Research strategies. This 
continues to be a priority for 2015/16.

The seedcorn scheme continues to support 
grant applications for external funding. 
Engagement with Horizon 2020 is explicit in 
Department plans and liaison teams continue 
supporting engagement with each Research 
Council to improve success. Resource for 
research support continues as a priority for 
2015/16.

With impact now mainstream activity within 
the University, planning for REF 2020 and 
resources for supporting impact development 
continues to be a priority. 

Detailed project management is supporting 
the planned implementation of Phase1 of an 
integrated solution for capturing, promoting, 
monitoring and reporting all research activity 
as a priority within 2015/16.

Having agreed priorities for research 
marketing, the University is actively promoting 
our research through a targeted programme.

Durham’s global partnership with Procter and 
Gamble continues to grow. We are developing 
partnerships with other key partners and 
co-strategising national research priorities 
with Research Councils UK and Technology 
Strategy Board. Our work with the N8 
Research Partnership of northern research 
intensive universities is key to building external 
research partnerships across the themes of 
Agritech and Urban Living.

The University will provide assurance as 
required to HEFCE and RCUK under the 
Concordat, which includes our work on the 
Vitae researcher development framework. We 
continue to deliver our objectives to support 
researchers and benchmark with the European 
Commission’s ‘HR excellence in research’ 
standard.

Priority Progress / Outcome

Research Strategy Implementation 

Durham, by delivering excellence in research and teaching, aims to be pre-eminent among research-led 
universities. With a review and refresh of key strategies, including the research strategy as a key pillar in 
the University’s Academic Strategy, we will focus on both the sustainability and growth of our research 
base. The University is continually building on its work plan, embedding and supporting the research 
culture across the University and progress made against priorities over the last year has been as follows:



Research Income

Income from research grants continued to 
increase during 2014/15 and, excluding 
the exceptional receipt of Research and 
Development Expenditure Credit, amounted 
to £55.75M which represents 17% of 
total income. This out-turn is below 
our target and we recognise that, in an 
increasingly competitive market, there are 
still opportunities within such a demanding 
environment to build on quality, promote our 
research and impact, develop dialogue with 
sponsors and diversify our sources of research 
funding. Improvement continues in the area 
of European funding with Horizon 2020 a 
key opportunity for our research ambitions 
as well as larger, collaborative grants and we 
will continue to improve our rate of success 
for research grant applications across a broad 
spectrum of research sponsors.

Significant research awards have been realised 
this year which maintain and contribute to 
our world leading research base. Within the 
Faculty of Science, over £3M of new awards 
within the Department of Physics, funded 
via the Science and Technology Facilities 
Council, support the astronomy research 
work at Durham including the UK programme 
for the European Extremely Large Telescope 
and Dark Energy Survey Instruments. Over 
£1.5M of new funding has been secured 
from the Engineering and Physical Sciences 
Research Council for development of 
telescope windows and for hybrid quantum 
and classical computation. The Faculty of 
Arts and Humanities continues funding 
success with RCUK, European funding, the 
British Academy, Leverhume Trust and a 
range of overseas trusts and foundations 
demonstrating the strength and depth of its 
research and appeal to a range of diverse 
funders. From the Faculty of Social Sciences 
and Health there continue to be outstanding 
examples of interdisciplinary research 
working supported by external funding. 
For example, the ‘Hubbub’ is a 50-strong 
international collective of social scientists, 
artists, humanities researchers, scientists, 
broadcasters, public engagement professionals 
and mental health experts. This is a truly 
interdisciplinary team of researchers and they 
are the first residents of the Hub at Wellcome 
Collection hosted in London, led by Durham. 
The School for Medicine, Pharmacy and 
Health is continuing to develop its research, 
impact and profile supported by additional 
research funding this year of £2M from 
Wellcome Trust, the Department of Health 
and the Medical Research Council, amongst 
others. We have sustained success with 
“Hearing the Voice 2”, funding for which will 
commence in 2015/16.

Research Institutes and Facilities

Durham’s Research Institutes facilitate 
leading edge interdisciplinary research and 
are increasingly developing synergies and 
working together across research initiatives. 
We continue to invest, and seek investment 
in, our research facilities and equipment 
as part of the development of our research 
infrastructure. A significant project in 
2014/15 has reviewed planning, strategy 
and resourcing for Research Institutes and 
Research Centres against the background 
of sustainability and growth of our research 
ambitions. Following on from this work, the 
University Research Committee will oversee a 
review of Research Institutes in 2015/16 to 
ensure that outputs from Institutes, and their 
resourcing, are being maximised to contribute 
to the University research agenda and future 
challenges. 

Future challenges

As demonstrated by the REF 2014 results, in 
many areas of research across the sciences, 
social sciences and the humanities, Durham 
is already recognised as among the top 
institutions in the world. We are working to 
achieve similar recognition across all our 
disciplines. 

Our Strategy has the following aims relating to 
Research:

1.  To demonstrate international research 
excellence across our entire academic 
base and take a leading part in developing 
the academic agenda in each of our 
disciplines.

2.  To increase significantly the number and 
proportion of both postgraduate Masters 
and PhD students and post-doctoral 
researchers, providing each with the best 
possible quality of experience.

3.  To shape and respond to international, 
national and local research agendas.

4.  To raise Durham’s research profile 
nationally and internationally by effectively 
disseminating our research successes and 
outcomes.

5.  To establish a culture of prioritising 
support for research by all communities 
across the University, enhancing external 
research funding and embedding policies 
which protect research time.

Immediate objectives are to:

•  Guide and support Departments in their 
planning for and delivery of research and 
impact activities, building on REF 2014 
results and analysis and our understanding 
of developments in the external research 
environment;

•  Enhance the University’s international 
standing through communicating its 
world-leading research and engaging with 
international stakeholders;

•  Improve further our performance in 
winning research funding by taking a 
strategic approach to engaging with 
research funders, maximising our internal 
peer review by understanding quality 
requirements and drivers and improving the 
support available to applicants;

•  Continue to enhance the recruitment, 
funding and provision for research students 
through the Durham Doctoral Training 
Centre framework;

•  Identify and support key international 
partnerships for research collaboration and 
use these to internationalise the experience 
of postgraduate research students; and

•  Develop and implement a Research 
Information System to manage and support 
research grant activities and reporting 
requirements. 

Education

Quality

Durham is committed to offering an excellent 
education and our undergraduate student 
levels of satisfaction remain amongst the 
highest in the country.  

In the delivery of the University’s 2010-
2020 Strategy a wide range of initiatives 
has been undertaken over the last few years, 
including reviews of opportunities within the 
curriculum to undertake work placements 
and international study exchanges; the 
establishment of a set of strategic principles 
for the management of learning resources; 
the development of a framework for initial 
and continuing professional development 
of our staff, aligned to the UK Professional 
Standards Framework; and a programme 
of work on developing inclusive teaching 
methods. At the midpoint of the 2010-
2020 Strategy, a revised Education Strategy 
has been developed built on the themes of 
academic community and transitions into 
and out of higher education. This work is part 
of the wider developments of an Academic 
Strategy for the University as a whole being 
developed during 2015-16. 

Student Body

Over the last four years Durham has endorsed 
a significant increase in the requirement 
of A* grades at A level for admission to 
undergraduate programmes and the A-level 
tariff of our student intake continues to rise. 
Postgraduate student numbers (taking taught 
and research together) also met our targets.

Operating and Financial Review continued

09



The University continues to improve and 
expand its activity to recruit the brightest 
and best students with merit and potential, 
irrespective of background. The University’s 
compact scheme, ‘Supported Progression’, is 
now in its fifth year and in Summer 2015 we 
saw the second cohort of students recruited 
through the scheme graduate. It offers a full 
programme of financial and academic support 
to help students from schools in Co. Durham, 
Teesside and more recently Cumbria to reach 
their full academic potential. This support 
programme, culminating in an assessed 
summer school in Year 12, rewards students 
with a bursary package as well as on-going 
pastoral and academic support on entry to 
their undergraduate programme at Durham.

The University also provides opportunities for 
state-school students who are ineligible for 
Supported Progression or who live outside the 
North-East, Cumbria or West Yorkshire. The 
Sutton Trust summer school, which recruits 
nationwide is now in its fourth year at Durham 
and will be expanding to three summer schools 
each year from 2015. 

The University’s pre and post-application 
days continue to prove very popular and 
the University has expanded the number 
of teachers’ conferences and bolstered its 
communication to teachers in state schools to 
support their guidance of student applications.

Employability and Skills

Durham continues to be deeply committed 
to the employability and enterprise agenda. 
The Times Good University Guide league 
tables remain one of the key measures used 
by recruiters when targeting universities for 
recruitment activity. In the Guide issued in 
2015, Durham again scored very highly with 
over 90% of Durham’s subjects ranked in 
the top ten - one of only four broad-subject 
universities to achieve this result - with the 
English department securing first position for 
the third consecutive year. 

Durham is also placed in the world top 25 for 
the employability of its students by blue-chip 
companies worldwide according to the QS 
World University Rankings 2014/15. Over 85% 
of our students graduate with a First or Upper 
Second Class degree.

Building on our commitment to employability 
and enterprise we have developed an 
Employability and Enterprise Strategy 2012-
17 to ensure our students have the best 
chance of moving into a rewarding career after 
graduation. Future initiatives include: 

•  Better integration of the employability 
and enterprise agenda with opportunities 
offered by our Careers, Employability and 
Enterprise Centre, the Students’ Union, 
Colleges and academic departments;

•  Further development of our Student 
Employment Service with a focus on high 
quality internships and placements work 
experience;

•  The further development of a skills audit 
diagnostic tool for all new students 
supported by our academic advisor and 
mentor system; 

•  The internationalisation of our curriculum 
in ways that recognise the value of an 
international perspective to employers; and

•  The further development of our ‘alumni 
network’ to connect current students with 
Durham graduates.

Colleges

Durham’s colleges make a unique 
contribution to University life. All residential 
accommodation owned by the University 
and provided to students is based in one of 
the colleges and every Durham University 
student belongs to a college. All colleges 
offer a vibrant, supportive community full 
of opportunities for students to gain new 
experiences and develop skills to enhance 
future achievement after graduation.

Successful student recruitment led to all 
colleges being full to capacity at the beginning 
of last academic year which, along with the 
successful implementation of cost savings 
during the year, contributed to the strong 
financial performance. 

The nature of the scholarly activities taking 
place in colleges has improved in both quality 
and frequency over the year. The same has 
been the case for student- led activities for 
which this has been our most successful 
year to date – one example being support for 
the Durham Pride parade which exemplified 
working effectively with the local community. 
Relationships with local residents’ associations 
have also been the best ever.

Durham’s award winning catering team has 
successfully consolidated its arrangements 
around supply chain management to enable 
it to continue to produce high quality meals 
sourced in the main from local producers. 
Other universities have visited to learn from 
our approaches. We continue to receive 5-star 
ratings for the hygiene and cleanliness of the 
work undertaken by our staff in our kitchens. 
In addition to college catering, we provide 
pan-university catering including at retail 
outlets across our estate and in support of 
conferences and related events. With an eye to 
the future, we intend to focus on consolidating 
areas of excellence as well as working on a 
range of different catering packages as we 
shape our future catering offers.

In November, 2014 we hosted the first ever 
international ‘Collegiate Way’ conference with 
educators from across five continents travelling 
to Durham for the event. The distinctive nature 

of collegiate universities from around the world 
was shared, discussed and debated to identify 
strengths and challenges. The conference 
was a resounding success with the Australian 
National University picking up the collegiate 
mantle to host the conference next year and a 
book contract on collegiate education, based 
on the contributions to the 2014 conference, 
well underway.

Experience Durham is responsible for 
coordinating University sport, staff and student 
volunteering and outreach (in partnership with 
Durham Students Union, student theatre and 
music) and has had another highly successful 
year, in which Durham received the Times 
and Sunday Times Sports University of the 
Year award. Also, in the British Universities 
and Colleges Sport points table Durham broke 
the all-time record for points scored in both 
league sports and cup competitions, exceeding 
4000 points overall. With the exception of 
Loughborough, the specialist sports university, 
no other university has ever reached this 
total. Sport, music and performing arts have 
continued to develop within the University, 
both in terms of high performance and (equally 
important) levels of participation. Sponsorship 
for sport has been on the increase and we will 
endeavour to achieve an increased proportion 
of funding for sport through sponsorship 
whilst maintaining the very highest standards. 
Durham continues to lead the sector with the 
levels of participation in both student and 
staff volunteering programmes. 

Looking forward, we expect colleges to go from 
strength to strength as scholarly and mutually 
supportive communities. They will therefore 
continue to have a key role in attracting, 
retaining and maintaining relationships with 
some of the most talented students and 
former students in the UK and will continue 
to improve their contribution to University 
Academic Strategy whilst supporting an 
excellent and distinctive student experience.

League Table Position

Durham has built on its achievements over 
the last five years, retaining its ranking 
in the top five UK universities according 
to the 2016 Complete University Guide, 
securing its position as one of the finest all-
round universities in the country, delivering 
excellence in education and research across 
all its disciplines. This is the seventh 
consecutive year that Durham has achieved a 
top five position. Durham was ranked 70th in 
the Times Higher Education World University 
Rankings 2014 and 61st in the QS World 
University rankings 2015.

Future Challenges

We continue our commitment to offer the 
highest standards in research-led education 
for both undergraduates and postgraduates, 
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linking research and education in distinctive 
and creative ways. We want our students to 
engage directly with world-leading scholars 
in our academic departments supported 
by distinctive opportunities for personal 
development through our residential college 
communities, ensuring future success and 
employability. We want to welcome the most 
able and motivated students with the greatest 
potential, whatever their background. The 
central challenge is to continue to maintain 
exceptionally high entry standards while 
maintaining momentum on ensuring fair 
access and a diverse pool of applicants during 
a period in which both demographic changes 
and proposed changes to the structure of 
A-levels are both likely to shrink the pool of 
potential applicants with suitable A-levels.

A World University

A new Dean of Internationalisation was 
appointed in December 2014 and is 
engaged in ensuring that internationalisation 
is embedded in all main strands of the 
institutional strategy.

The introduction of ten additional Chevening-
Durham partnership awards resulted 
in increased profile for Durham and a 
considerable increase in the number of 
students listing Durham as their first choice on 
Chevening scholarship applications. 

Durham signed a 5-year extension to the 
capacity building contract with Qassim 
University, Saudi Arabia which aims to develop 
female teaching staff through Masters and 
PhD study across all Faculties.

International undergraduate student 
applications increased by 4.5%; postgraduate 
taught by 9% and postgraduate research by 
5%. Numbers of international full-time new 
entrants increased by 4% on 2013/14, leading 
to an increase of £6.4M in student fee income 
from this source, making the 2014/15 figure 
£53.3M.

Future Challenges

Challenges include:

•  Significant declines in the number of 
students applying to the UK from South 
Asia due to the perceived difficulties of 
obtaining a visa and the limited opportunity 
for post-graduation, resulting in a risky 
over-reliance on recruitment from a small 
number of East Asian markets, particularly 
at postgraduate level.

•  How we increase our international student 
exchange and placement numbers to 
meet institutional KPIs in the face of 
overwhelming market demand for short-
term (one term or less) placements.

•  How Durham will respond to the rapidly 
increasing demand for the delivery of UK 
degree programmes delivered off-shore 
through partnership arrangements or using 
on-line technology.

•  How Durham increases international 
research profile, joint publications and 
funding in key regions such as Europe and 
the US.

Sustainability

This theme encompasses the University’s long 
term responsibilities to ensure sustainability in 
social, environmental and financial matters. 

Social and Economic

Activities in 2014/15 to promote economic 
and social development in the localities 
around our sites in Durham and Stockton and 
beyond have been undertaken as set out below. 
Many of these are continuing initiatives. 
During the year, we undertook activities in 
both Durham and London to bring this work to 
the attention of relevant politicians and policy 
makers.

Durham continued to host the Institute for 
Local Governance, a partnership with other 
North East universities and the region’s Local 
Authorities and public services, with support 
from the Economic and Social Research 
Council. The aim of the Institute is to support 
innovation across the public services and 
establish the North East’s position as a 
world-class public services leader, particularly 
addressing the difficulties encountered 
during the period of the recession. Despite 
the difficult operating environment caused 
by public sector expenditure cuts, and the 
decision of the Universities of Newcastle and 
Northumbria to withdraw from the programme, 
the Institute continued to make good progress 
over the year and to be strongly supported 
by local authorities and other public sector 
organisations which value its work. Several 
of its reports have been referred to or used 
by local MPs and others such as community 
and voluntary groups in presentations to 
conferences and public meetings in the region.

Building on the earlier success of the North 
East Beacon for Public Engagement, a 
partnership with Newcastle University and 
the Centre for Life, Durham staff continued 
their work in developing knowledge exchange 
activities that benefitted local communities. 
The focus for this work continued to be 
“Experience Durham”, which brings together 
staff volunteering, community outreach 
and engagement alongside a range of extra-
curricular student volunteering activities, 
especially those related to the arts, culture 
and sport. The staff volunteering scheme 
complements existing student volunteering 

activities, as well as opening up possibilities 
for community groups and social economy 
organisations to access the resources of the 
University. There is an on-going consultation 
among staff to identify existing activities and 
ideas for future developments that can be 
taken forward in a co-ordinated way.

Our community partners scheme, to which 
some 175 community organisations in the 
North East of England have signed up, 
continued to be successful in linking partners 
with expertise in the University (for example, 
with staff volunteers, or enabling access to 
resources within the University such as the 
library and staff training opportunities).

Durham also continued to participate in 
FUSE (the North East Centre of Excellence 
in Translational Research in Public Health) 
and in the academic Health Science Network 
alongside the region’s other universities and 
colleagues in the NHS. Durham continued 
to participate actively in a range of projects 
within the N8 Partnership.

We continued to support external 
developments in the North East as follows: 

We have continued to implement the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the 
University, The Centre for Process Innovation 
and Business Durham (formerly County 
Durham Development Company) to promote 
and develop NETPark, the North East’s 
most successful Science Park. Its expansion 
remains a central element in County Durham’s 
economic development strategy and offers 
opportunities both for the University and spin-
out companies, two of which are located there. 
Also at NETPark is the Centre for Advanced 
Instrumentation which was particularly 
important in NETPark winning a node in the 
Satellite Applications Catapult.

Durham Business and Innovations Services 
(DBIS) continued to provide an integrated 
approach to our business support activities 
and knowledge transfer. DBIS focuses 
upon the development of major strategic 
partnerships that embrace core education and 
research goals with key companies including 
Procter and Gamble and IBM. We are also 
developing an innovative strategic partnership 
with Haringey Council, focussed on the 
transition of Haringey to a low carbon borough 
and increasingly to the broader regeneration of 
its area of London.

The University is a board member of the 
County Durham Partnership and the County 
Durham Economic Partnership which bring 
together the local Council, public sector 
agencies and the private and voluntary 
sectors in developing and taking forward a 
development strategy for County Durham. We 
also have a seat on the Durham Area Action 
Partnership which aims to improve service 
provision for the local community. We are also 
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engaged with the Tees Valley LEP via the Tees 
Valley Employment and Skills Committee, are 
widening our involvement with that LEP, but 
currently are more heavily engaged with the 
North East LEP on whose Innovation board 
we are represented. One of our staff has been 
seconded part-time to the NELEP to support 
innovation strategy development.

Environmental

The University is now in the second phase 
of its Carbon Management Plan covering the 
period 2014 – 2020 and has established 
project sub-groups for the key themes which 
will report on projects and initiatives and 
continue to monitor carbon reduction across 
the estate. As a result of work to date, carbon 
emissions are showing a reduction of 3% 
against the 2005/6 baseline. In addition 
to this, a researcher from Durham Energy 
Institute is investigating the potential for 
low and zero carbon technologies across the 
University estate. 

Carbon reduction projects suggested by both 
students and staff received funding resulting 
in estimated reductions in carbon emissions of 
155 tonnes. Funding continues to be available 
for further projects of this nature.

Greenspace, the University’s Environmental 
Sustainability Team, represents the University 
on the County Durham Environment 
Partnership and a member of the team 
chairs the County Durham Climate Change 
Group. Greenspace continues to introduce 
campaigns and initiatives to promote positive 
environmental behaviour with staff and 
students and works across the University to 
further embed environmental sustainability.

A new pan-University Sustainable Travel Plan 
has been developed for 2014-2020 to replace 
the previously separate Green Travel Plans 
for the Durham and Stockton Campuses. A 
new contract has been awarded for the inter-
campus bus service for the next seven years 
which offers an enhanced level of service and 
additional discounts for staff and students to 
encourage their use of public transport. Other 
initiatives introduced to date have been the 
provision of electric charging posts, which has 
seen an increase in the use of electric cars by 
staff, and a new corporate discount scheme for 
staff travelling by train.

Considerable success has been enjoyed in 
gaining “green” awards this year, including:

•  North East Tourism Awards 2014 - Gold 
Award for ‘Sustainable Tourism’

•  Durham County Environment Awards 2014 
- Durham Business School Refurbishment 
and Catering ‘Green Watch’ 

•  Green Apple Environment Awards 2014 - 
Gold Award for Catering

Financial

The University’s financial sustainability is a 
fundamental prerequisite of its strategy and 
our financial planning has this at its core. 
Another year of careful budgetary management 
has enabled us to deliver a substantial 
operating surplus, which exceeded that 
budgeted, and has further contributed to our 
relatively strong financial position. More detail 
on our financial performance in 2014/15 is 
contained in the Financial Review. 

The financial climate continues to be 
turbulent, both globally and in the UK’s 
public finances. Our financial strategy, which 
supports the overall strategy, includes the 
following objectives:

i.  Diversify income sources by aligning 
strengths to funding opportunities;

ii.  Embed transparent financial practices 
which reward success and focus resources 
on core academic activities;

iii.  Actively manage costs, including evaluation 
of all investment decisions and post-
implementation assessments;

iv.  Improve information systems to support 
streamlining of processes;

v.  Continue to achieve operating surpluses to 
enable investment in infrastructure; and

vi.  Take a balanced approach to risk along with 
rapid decision-making.

Whilst our detailed financial forecasts again 
reflect rolled forward existing plans, work has 
commenced to reflect in strategic financial 
planning the emerging outcome of the review 
of Academic Strategy mentioned in the 
Strategy section above. This is the first step 
to a complete refresh of the financial strategy 
which will be necessary once the Academic 
Strategy has been agreed. 

Capital Investment

Our financial plans include a significant 
capital programme which will see the 
investment on average of at least £42 million 
per annum over the next four years, over 
half of which will be to maintain existing 
infrastructure. This is an important component 
of our capital investment alongside the 
need to continually develop the estate and 
its capability to support our research and 
education objectives. 

This year we invested £43 million in 
developing and maintaining our infrastructure, 
major components of which were as follows: 

•  Completion of refurbishment of the Main 
Library and the Christopherson building 
housing Engineering and Computer 
Sciences;

•  Upgrade of the kitchen at Trevelyan college 
and its facilities at James Knott Hall and 
Dowrick Suite;

•  Commenced work on site to create a new 
building for Physics;

•  Acquired new and replacement research 
equipment;

•  Continued a substantial programme of 
investment in IT facilities; and

•  Completed the purchase of land at Mount 
Oswald.

We continue to develop plans to expand our 
residential accommodation for students and 
for a number of other projects to support our 
research and teaching ambitions. In support of 
this, following the acquisition of land at Mount 
Oswald with outline planning consent for up to 
1,000 student bed spaces, we are developing 
plans for the optimum use of the site.

Our future capital programme will be 
influenced by available funding, both internally 
generated and deriving from grants and 
philanthropic gifts.

Information Technology (IT)

2014/15 was the second year of the New 
World Programme, which is delivering a 
reliable, secure, flexible IT infrastructure to 
support the University’s current and future 
needs, and an IT service culture that can 
respond flexibly to the University’s evolving IT 
needs. Benefits delivered in 2014/15 include:

Organisational focus, skill building  
and process improvement

•  Improved change process, with all changes 
now documented and all architectural and 
infrastructure decisions scrutinised by 
our technical design authority, improving 
security and promoting a coherent approach 
to IT architecture across the University.

•  Relocation of IT Service Desk and large-
format A0 printing to the Library, improving 
access to support for students.

•  Embedding new structure and ways of 
working for 1st and 2nd line support teams, 
promoting improved processes and stronger 
collaboration between support teams, to 
drive improved first-time-fix rates, and 
increased flexibility and cover.

•  Telecoms team restructure and transition of 
switchboard services to reception teams has 
realised savings and service improvements.

•  Service Management team restructure 
to drive continued improvements in key 
processes supporting availability, reliability 
and effective support of services.
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Improved infrastructure services for  
staff and students 

•  Full wi-fi coverage for University buildings, 
including college bedrooms.

•  Enhanced bandwidth for the Institute of 
Particle Physics Phenomenology (IPPP) and 
Institute for Computational Cosmology high 
performance computing clusters, improving 
Durham’s rankings and share of funding 
within the global IPPP Grid, and enabling 
Durham to be a pilot site for a DiRAC-3 
initiative at Rutherford Appleton Laboratory.

•  New tools for instant messaging, presence 
awareness and remote conferencing for 
staff, with plans in place to deliver further 
collaboration solutions during 2015/16.

•  Access to Durham’s virtual learning 
environment from mobile devices.

•  Agreement reached on location for new 
primary and secondary data centres, and 
work begun on the site of the new primary 
data centre and network core. 

•  Tender awarded for provision of hosting 
solution that will deliver a secure and 
flexible IT application hosting and data 
storage facility to support the University’s 
future teaching and research needs.

•  In the interim, the University’s storage 
platform has been upgraded to provide 
290TB of tactical file storage, enabling 
migration of key services and provision of 
new storage to priority areas.

Reducing risk and cost  
through standardisation 

•  Continuing migration of departmental 
services to solutions managed by the 
Computing and Information Service where 
appropriate, making our IT estate easier to 
monitor, manage and secure.

•  Closed an old datacentre and moved key 
services to better-managed data centres, 
improving security, resilience and energy 
efficiency.

•  Continuing reduction in single points of 
failure (SPOFs) – 61% of non-network 
SPOFs removed or substantially mitigated 
since the start of the programme, and 
groundwork laid for network resilience 
improvement activities in 2015/16 which 
will address the network-related SPOFs.

Alongside the New World Programme, a 
range of projects continues to deliver new or 
improved services:

•  An Information Security Programme is 
delivering a set of information security 
policies and consequent activities 
to support changes in behaviour and 
technology, essential for the University to 

comply with the security standards required 
by a growing number of funding bodies.

•  Design and development is underway for 
a Research Information System which 
will enable a single, integrated solution 
for capturing, promoting, monitoring and 
reporting all research activity. 

•  The first phase of implementing a new HR/
Payroll system (People Plus) is complete, 
with the new system now live. The second 
phase is underway, including two-factor 
authentication to enable remote access, 
which will deliver additional modules to 
replace legacy systems and benefits in 
improved processes.

•  Multiple improvements to existing 
information systems.

Estate

2014/15 has seen continued changes to the 
University estate and improvements in the way 
it is managed. Expenditure on the estate is 
a significant annual investment, second only 
to staff costs. Continued implementation of 
the Estate and Residential Accommodation 
Strategies will deliver improvements in the 
condition of the estate, value for money and 
efficiency benefits in the running costs of 
buildings.

Preliminary work is under way to assess the 
implications for the University’s infrastructure, 
including the built estate, as part of the 
Academic Strategy Review. It will be important 
to ensure that the estate is developed so 
as to adequately support delivery of the 
Academic Strategy and, whilst it is too early 
yet to fully assess the implications, there are 
some early indications emerging of the nature 
and location of future estate developments. 
This work will continue into next year when 
the impact on the Estate and Residential 
Accommodation Strategies will be clearer.

Key activities have included the following:

•  Re-organisation of the Maintenance and 
Facilities service provision. This work is 
largely complete and as expected, the 
changes in organisational structure have 
brought about improvements in both service 
provision and value for money.

•  Continued development of the Asset 
Management approach to long term 
maintenance investment, providing much 
improved evidential based management 
information which is being used to inform 
future decision making.

•  Commissioning of the new Estates 
Management Information System through 
which we are seeing significant efficiency 
improvements. The development of the 
system now includes all aspects of reactive 
maintenance.

•  Formalised and fully managed systems 
are in place to ensure areas of statutory 
compliance are fully managed. This 
specifically includes a full inspection, 
containment and removal programme 
for asbestos, and a full legionella 
testing programme throughout the whole 
residential and non-residential estate.

•  A number of capital projects have been 
completed and these are described 
elsewhere in this report. Of significance are 
completion of the refurbishment of the Bill 
Bryson Library and the continuation of the 
refurbishment programme in the residential 
estate. Capital schemes that were approved 
and have commenced during the reporting 
period include a new research building for 
Physics, improvements to the High Voltage 
electrical infrastructure and investment in 
new primary and secondary data centres. 

•  Acquisition of land on the site of the former 
Mount Oswald golf course with outline 
planning consent for up to 1,000 student 
bed spaces was completed on 1 August 
2014 and site infrastructure including 
new roads, footpaths and utilities provision 
have been completed during the reporting 
period.

Staff

Recruitment

Much of the recent focus has been on 
recruitment campaigns for high profile senior 
staff, most notably the Vice-Chancellor and 
Warden but also Pro-Vice-Chancellor for 
Research and University Secretary. This will 
continue in 2015/16 with an international 
search for the Dean of Durham Business 
School. A range of national and international 
recruitment activity was also supported, with 
789 contracts issued. It has been agreed to 
strengthen all recruitment and appointment 
activity commencing with a review of the 
appointment process for Heads of Department 
and then developing a new policy to provide a 
formal process for all appointments across the 
University.

To ensure an efficient and effective service, 
two units were merged to form a Business 
Support Services Team. The head of this 
new cross-functional team will conduct a 
comprehensive review of service delivery in the 
coming year, focusing on diversity within the 
workplace and a targeted approach to address 
under-representation, such as gender balance 
and other protected characteristics, in senior 
academic positions. 

The recruitment market for academic roles 
remains highly competitive. To ensure 
applicants are provided with a seamless 
recruitment experience we are developing an 
e-recruitment portal, as part of the People Plus 
programme, with the introduction of the first 
modules for vacancy management expected 
before the end of 2015.

Operating and Financial Review continued
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Operating and Financial Review continued

Workforce Planning and Reward

Phase 1 of our new People Plus HR/Payroll 
system has enabled processes to be streamlined 
and all staff can now directly access their own 
personal record. Further enhancements and 
additional modules will go live during 2015 and 
2016 including a new e-recruitment module, 
online expenses and electronic payslips.

We supported recent changes to the USS pension 
scheme following a review linked to its actuarial 
valuation, including the formal consultation with 
staff and providing pension education seminars 
for affected staff. The Durham University Pension 
Scheme has an actuarial valuation this year and 
will be reviewed when those results are known to 
ensure it is financially stable for the future. 

Diversity and Equality

Diversity, equality and inclusion continue to be 
important priorities. Following the focus on gender 
last year, we have continued to progress work in 
this area, but have also expanded our focus to 
other protected characteristics. Achievements in 
this area include: 

•  The ongoing delivery of an ambitious training 
programme available to all staff, including 
core workshops on Equality and Diversity 
and Unconscious Bias, and bespoke training 
designed and delivered on request;

•  A programme of training for chairs and 
members of recruitment panels;

•  University-wide equality and diversity survey 
and consultation programme which will be 
used to develop an action plan to enhance 
the ambitious Gender Equality Action Plan 
developed last year;

•  Renewal of Athena Swan Bronze institution 
award, and a number of individual 
departments being awarded Bronze or Silver 
awards; 

•  Initiatives including a senior women’s network, 
a senior women in academia mentoring 
programme, continuation of Inspiring 
Women network lunches and support for the 
Leadership Foundation’s Aurora programme for 
female academics; and

•  Working in partnership with other local 
organisations as part of Durham Pride to 
enhance visibility of Durham’s Lesbian, 
Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Questioning 
(LGBTQ+) population. 

Leadership and training 

To ensure co-ordinated provision of all training 
activity across the University, a new unit called 
the Centre for Academic, Researcher and 
Organisation Development (CAROD) has been 
formed which will provide a coordinated approach 
to development and support for both staff and 
students. 

Features of leadership and training provision have 
been:

•  continued development of leadership capacity 
through the Academic Leaders’ Programme 
(run jointly with Newcastle University) and the 
Future Leaders’ Programme.

•  continued support for the development of 
staff at the beginning of their management 
and leadership careers by offering a range 
of Institute of Leadership and Management 
programmes in collaboration with other north-
east universities. 

•  provision of an HEA accredited Continuous 
Professional Development scheme for 
academic staff whereby staff are encouraged 
to take up the appropriate level of fellowship 
to improve Key Information Set metrics.

•  continued delivery of a researcher development 
programme for postgraduate research students 
and early career researchers.

The Training Team has been recognised as 
delivering good practice by the Business Sector 
Specialist team from the awarding body Oxford 
Cambridge and RSA (OCR) for the project-led 
delivery model they have developed for the 
National Vocational Qualification (NVQ) Level 3 
in Business and Administration. This qualification 
also forms part of the highly successful Advanced 
Apprenticeship scheme delivered by the team. 
The NVQs ensure real benefits to the University 
and are highly valued by senior managers.

Employee Engagement and Wellbeing

The need for the University’s first People Strategy 
was recognised in 2014. A working group has 
developed a draft strategy to form the basis of a 
consultation with all our employees in the autumn 
of 2015. 

We are also reviewing our Annual Staff Review 
scheme to ensure it reflects the University’s 
priorities and provides staff with the support and 
access to development they need to progress their 
careers. 

Initiatives supporting staff health and wellbeing 
have included:

•  Wellbeing events run in conjunction with 
Durham County Council, including a free 
health check and support from occupational 
health advisers.

•  A review of our staff induction programme to 
incorporate wellbeing activities and health 
checks.

Organisational Change and  
Employee Relations

We continue to work in partnership with our 
campus trade unions to maintain positive and 
constructive employee relations. Although the 
national dispute over the proposed changes to the 
USS continued into early 2015, positive employee 
relations resulted in minimal adverse impact to 
students or the University’s business.

We have undertaken some preliminary work with 
campus trade unions in preparation for a review 

of our main terms and conditions of employment; 
work will continue on this project throughout 
2015/16.

We have supported a number of organisational 
change initiatives during 2015, affecting in 
excess of 1,000 staff. To ensure we continue to 
improve change management we have introduced 
a new organisational change policy that 
emphasises the importance of consultation and 
communication with affected staff, trade unions 
and relevant stakeholders.

Risk

Risk management framework

The risk management framework continues to 
work effectively. The register of key strategic 
risks remains externally focussed and is updated 
at least quarterly by risk owners in conjunction 
with the risk manager. This continues to provide 
the basis for the monitoring, discussion and 
management of strategic risks dynamically by the 
University Executive committee. The robustness 
of risk management processes has led the Audit 
Committee to dispense with its separate risk 
watch list, thereby streamlining processes and 
improving efficiency. 

At an operational level, further progress has been 
made this year on integrating risk management 
with planning and decision-making. This has 
added value to risk management processes and 
has helped to ensure that risks are considered 
at an early stage. Training and briefing sessions 
on risk have yielded better quality of risk 
management. To more fully integrate operational 
and strategic risk management, summary reports 
on department-level risks have been considered at 
faculty boards this year. 

Risk appetite

A new approach to defining and using risk 
appetite was approved by Council in January 
2015. The approach uses differential risk 
thresholds tailored to different risk areas. This 
allows different areas to treat risk in a more 
stringent or a more relaxed way. The majority of 
risks are still managed in accordance with the 
default threshold, but in areas where a more 
stringent approach is required a risk-averse 
threshold is used and where the University wishes 
to accept a more relaxed approach to risk the 
risk tolerant threshold is applied. Using this 
approach embeds the University’s risk appetite 
into the strategic risk register which underpins the 
management of risks and aids decision making. 
The approach will continue to develop and the 
determination of risk thresholds will be reviewed 
later this year. 

Durham was shortlisted for a Times Higher 
Education Leadership and Management Award 
this year, based on the developments we have 
made to risk management thinking and processes. 

Further reference to the University’s risk 
management process may be found in the 
Corporate Governance statement.
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Financial Review for the year to 31 July 2015

 
Scope of the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements comprise the results of the activities of the 

University as a legal entity consolidated with the results of its subsidiary 

undertaking, Durham University Investments Limited (DUIL). DUIL is the 

holding company of three subsidiaries undertaking the activities of property 

development, the provision of conference and tourist facilities and the 

activities of the women’s football team which, for commercial and legal 

reasons, are more appropriately channelled through limited companies. 

These subsidiaries transfer the whole of any taxable profits to the University 

under gift aid. The statements also include the results of the Durham 

Student Organisations that elected to opt into a framework enabling them to 

operate within the University’s charitable status. 

 

Results for the Year

The University’s consolidated income, expenditure and results for the year to 

31 July 2015 are summarised as follows:

The University’s total income excluding Research and Development 

Expenditure Credit increased by 6% in 2014/15 compared with the previous 

year. Its components are shown in the following chart. 

Income from Funding Council grants fell by 18% while tuition fees 

increased by 17%, through the effect of higher fees for the third cohort of 

home undergraduate students. Income from the tuition fees of full-time 

students from outside the European Union continued to grow, this year by 

14%. External research income increased by 3% to £55.8 million and for 

this year only was supplemented by Research and Development Expenditure 

Credit (RDEC) of £6.4 million. Other income increased by 5% to £59.9 

million. 

Expenditure increased this year by 2% and its components are shown in the 

following chart. 

 

Staff costs rose by 5% and non-staff reduced by 3%. Depreciation charges 

increased by 8% in the year and were partially offset by the release of 

capital grants of £8.8 million as explained in note 24.

The surplus of £21 million before non-recurring items and tax was £9.8 

million higher than originally budgeted. This derived from a variety of 

sources, of which the principal ones were as follows; tuition fee income was 

£1.6 million higher than budget due to better than expected recruitment, 

mainly in home undergraduate and PGCE students. Research overheads 

were £1.5 million below budget, offset by contribution from trading 

activities which was £1.5 million above budget. There were savings on staff 

costs of £1.7 million, largely due to delayed senior staff appointments and 

other vacancies. Non-staff savings in academic departments were £1.6 

million and in professional service departments and corporate charges £0.9 

million. Other operating income was £3.0 million above budget, principally 

Durham Student Organisations (DSOs), Colleges and recovery of VAT, and 

depreciation was £0.7 million lower. The University recovered £5 million 

net of Corporation Tax under the Government’s Research and Development 

Expenditure Credit scheme.

The trends in operating surplus and total income are shown in the following 

chart which illustrates the impact from 2011/12 of the reduction in 

government funding for education and research ahead of the increased level 

Operating and Financial Review continued

2015

£m

2014

£m
Total net income excluding Research
and Development Expenditure Credit

Staff costs 174.5 166.7

Other operating costs 99.0 101.6

Depreciation 21.5 19.9

Interest and finance 5.6 5.9

Non-recurring items including Research 6.8 0.7 
and Development Expenditure Credit  

Taxation (1.4) –

Deficit transferred to endowment funds 1.5 1.7

Income

Expenditure

Total expenditure 300.6 294.1 

Surplus before taxation and  21.0 9.7
non-recurring items
 

Surplus retained in 
general reserves 27.9 12.1

15

Expenditure

Staff costs

Other operating expenses

Depreciation

Interest and other finance costs

33% 58%

2%7%

Income

Funding Council grants

Tuition fees and education contracts

Research grants and contracts

Other income

Endowment and investment income

18%
13%

49%
19%

1%

321.6 303.8

Research and Development Expenditure Credit is shown in this table as an 

exceptional item.



Operating and Financial Review continued

of home undergraduate tuition fees.

Operating surplus derives from the operating activities of the business and excludes non-

operational items such as property disposal proceeds, Research and Development Expenditure 

Credit, non-cash adjustments for pension costs and expenditure out of endowment funds. 

Student numbers

Full-time student numbers increased by 4% in the year. Full-time students from the United 

Kingdom and other countries in the European Union increased by 3% whilst full-time students 

from outside the European Union increased by 7%. This is in line with our strategic objective 

to increase both the number and proportion of international students in Durham’s student body. 

There was also an increase of 5.5% in the number of full-time postgraduate students. 

Balance Sheet

The net book value of tangible assets increased by £21 million as a result of significant capital 

expenditure at £43 million, the principal content of which is described below.

The value of endowment assets increased by £3.7 million to £71.1 million. A full breakdown of 

the changes is given in note 15.

Debtor balances reduced by £2.6 million, including reductions in both trade and research debtors. 

Short term creditors increased by £5.3 million, the principal component of which was amounts 

outstanding in relation to capital schemes, the increase in which outweighed the reduction in 

research grants received on account, accruals and deferred income.

The amount of cash held (including amounts on deposit) increased by £27 million which, along 

with recognition of investments in two spinout companies at their market value of £4.6 million, 

contributed towards an increase in net current assets of £23m. Much of the creditor balance 

(£14 million) continues to relate to deferral of income recognition which will not result in a cash 

outflow. Long term creditors again increased through drawdown of the loan facility, explained in 

more detail below.

The net pension liability is in respect of Durham’s in-house pension scheme and has increased by 

£5.1 million this year, asset investment outperformance having been exceeded by the increase in 

Operating surplus and total income
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Operating Surplus Total Income (secondary axis)

pension liabilities arising mainly from deterioration 

in the discount rate. An actuarial valuation at 6 April 

2015 is under way but no results are yet available. 

The previous valuation at 6 April 2012 produced 

a recovery plan over twelve years with additional 

employer contributions in relation to future service 

dependent on the reversion of gilt yields to more 

normal levels. As this has not yet occurred, additional 

contributions equivalent to 1% of pensionable salaries 

are being made. Note 30 gives further details of 

pension liabilities.

The balance of Deferred Capital Grants has reduced 

by a net £2.5 million; new grant receipts amounted to 

£7.4 million and £8.8 million was released to income 

during the year. 

Treasury and Investment Performance

The University’s treasury policy is designed to maintain 

liquidity (ensuring that sufficient liquid resources 

are available to meet the liabilities of the University 

as they fall due), minimise the costs of borrowing, 

maximise cleared funds available for short-term 

investment and invest these funds for best return with 

minimum risk. During the year an average of around 

£63m (including endowment fund balances) has been 

invested over periods ranging from instant access to 

365 days at an average return of 0.63%.

The University also has a longer term pooled 

investment fund, operating within an agreed range 

of asset allocations. This returned a total of 9.5% 

(including income) during the year, which was in 

line with its benchmark, performance being driven 

principally by global equities and property. 

Cash flow, liquidity and funding

Cash generated by operating activities recovered this 

year to £41.5 million, helped by the increased surplus. 

In addition, £18 million of loan funding, including 

£7 million from the North East Local Enterprise 

Partnership, has been drawn down to fund capital 

expenditure. There remains available a Revolving 

Credit Facility of up to £15 million to help meet 

in-year working capital requirements. Borrowings are 

partly hedged and details of the instruments in place 

are set out in Note 22.

The University’s deposit with Heritable Bank has now 

been almost fully recovered and the remaining 2% has 

been fully offset by a provision.

£M



Financial KPIs

The key financial performance indicators reported to Council during the year were as follows:

We expect to review these indicators to reflect the impact of Financial Reporting Standard 102 on the 

financial statements once it is implemented in 2015/16.

Future outlook

Although the funding changes that commenced in 2012/13 have now been reflected fully in the 

University’s income and Durham maintained the funding deriving from its REF 2014 submission as 

anticipated, there remains much uncertainty in the Higher Education sector around the government’s 

plans for funding both teaching and research in the future. The outcome of the Comprehensive 

Spending Review being announced late in 2015 will be crucial and sector bodies are making clear in 

their submissions to the Review that support for the role played by universities in the national economy 

is paramount. 

Recent performance in both national and international league tables emphasises Durham’s excellence 

in both teaching and research. Demand for undergraduate places at Durham remains very strong and 

we expect Durham to retain its leading position in the elite group of UK universities. The Academic 

Strategy review aims to position the University appropriately within that group and will be a significant 

part of our response to any funding challenges we face. We also recognise the need to continue to 

diversify income streams and to have regard to demographic and economic trends affecting the 

recruitment of international students. 

Based on plans to deliver the Academic Strategy, we will review our existing financial forecasts to 

ensure that we remain strongly placed to maintain financial sustainability. 

Operating and Financial Review continued

Debt collection continues to be vigorously 

pursued and the outstanding debt position is 

monitored on a monthly basis. The value of 

debts written off during the year was £114,000 

(2013/14: £76,000), which represents less 

than 0.1% of invoiced income.

Our policy on the payment of creditors is to pay 

within 30 days of receiving a valid invoice and 

has been maintained during the year.

Capital projects and financing

In total, £43 million was spent on buildings 

and equipment to support the University’s 

research mission and to refurbish teaching 

accommodation and student residences, the 

major components of which are described in 

the following paragraphs. 

The University is committed to ensuring the 

quality of the Durham student experience and 

this year has spent £6.1 million to refurbish 

and upgrade student accommodation and 

sports facilities and to refurbish existing 

lecture theatres. 

To support the research agenda, £4.7 million 

has been spent on the acquisition and 

replacement of equipment, partly funded by 

grants for this purpose. 

£2.2 million was invested in refurbishing 

facilities at the Bill Bryson Library and £1.1 

million commencing a project to create a new 

Physics building that in total will cost £10 

million.

In addition to £18 million invested in the 

acquisition of land at Mount Oswald, other 

expenditure on infrastructure, including 

implementation of the University’s IT strategy, 

saw investment of £11 million this year.

The capital projects outlined above have been 

funded by grants, benefactions, internally 

generated funds and bank borrowing.

Plans for further development of the 

University’s estate are outlined in the Review 

of the Year.

Solvency

Sustainability

Liquidity

Resilience

Indicator Control

Net borrowing as a percentage of total income 60% max 16.1% 21.7%

1.25 x debt service cover against available cash 1.0 min 9.0 5.6

Current ratio including near cash 1.0 min 1.6 1.3

Days’ cash held including near cash 40 days min 116 days 83 days

Operating cash flow % of total income 9% target 12.6% 8.1%

Operating surplus as a % of total income No target 6.7% 3.5%

Staff costs as % of total income 60% max 54.3%* 54.9% 
*Income excludes RDEC claim 

14/15 13/14
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Structure of Corporate Governance

The University is a body corporate founded in 

1832, whose legal status derives from a Royal 

Charter dated 1837 and the Universities of 

Durham and Newcastle upon Tyne Act 1963. It 

is an educational charity which is exempt from 

registration with the Charity Commission by 

virtue of Schedule 3 of the Charities Act 2011. 

The University’s status as a charity is regulated 

by the Higher Education Funding Council for 

England (HEFCE) as Principal Regulator. 

The University conducts its business in 

accordance with the seven principles identified 

by the first report of the Committee on 

Standards in Public Life (selflessness, integrity, 

objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty 

and leadership), and with the Higher Education 

Code of Governance (“the Code”) issued by the 

Committee of University Chairs in December 

2014.

The University’s objects, powers and framework 

of governance are set out in its Charter and 

its Statutes, the latest version of which was 

approved by the Privy Council in July 2011. The 

Statutes are available at: www.durham.ac.uk/

university.calendar/volumei/statutes

The Statutes require the University to have 

prescribed governance bodies, each with clearly 

defined functions and responsibilities and which 

oversee and manage its activities. The two 

principal bodies are as follows: 

Council

Council is the governing body of the University 

and its board of trustees. It has the custody, 

control and disposition of all the University’s 

property and finances, and is responsible for 

setting the strategic direction of the University. 

Subject to the powers reserved in the Statutes 

to the Senate, it has ultimate responsibility for 

all the affairs of the University. It is responsible 

for reviewing the work of the University and 

taking such steps as it thinks proper for the 

purpose of advancing the interests of the 

University, maintaining its efficiency and 

encouraging the prosecution of learning and 

research in the University.

All Council members are charity trustees of 

the University. The majority of members are 

from outside the University (“lay members”), 

from whom its Chair and Vice-Chair (s) must 

be drawn. Members also include staff of 

the University, the Dean of Durham and a 

representative of the student body. Details of 

Council’s membership are set out on page 4. 

None of the lay members receive any payment 

for the work they do for the University, but may 

claim reimbursement of reasonable expenses 

which are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial 

statements.

Council meets at least five times each year.

Senate

Senate is the supreme governing body of 

the University in all academic matters and, 

subject to the powers reserved to the Council, 

is responsible for promoting, directing and 

regulating the teaching and research work of 

the University and for promoting the University 

as a place of education, learning and research. 

Senate draws its membership from senior 

academic and other staff and representatives of 

the students of the University. It is chaired by 

the Vice-Chancellor. 

Council Committees

Council is assisted in discharging its 

responsibilities by a number of committees 

including the Finance and General Purposes 

Committee, the Nominations Committee, 

the Remuneration Committee, the Audit 

Committee and the Ethics Advisory Committee. 

The decisions and recommendations of these 

committees are formally reported to Council.

These committees, and in some cases others, 

are formally constituted as committees of 

Council with written terms of reference and 

specified membership, including a significant 

proportion of lay members (from whom a 

chairman will be selected).

The Finance and General Purposes Committee 

advises the Council on the financial position 

of the University and recommends to Council 

the University’s annual financial statements, 

budgets and financial forecasts.

The Nominations Committee is responsible 

for making recommendations to Council 

on the appointment of the Chair and Vice-

Chair(s) of Council and the appointment and 

re-appointment of all appointed members of 

Council, and for making recommendations to 

Senate and Council for the membership of all 

their committees. 

The Remuneration Committee determines the 

annual remuneration of professorial and other 

senior staff and approves any arrangements 

made with senior individuals in connection 

with the cessation of their employment with the 

University.

The Audit Committee assesses the University’s 

risk management, control and governance 

arrangements and advises Council on the 

arrangements to promote economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness. It also ensures that 

arrangements for the management and quality 

assurance of data submitted to the Higher 

Education Statistics Agency are adequate. The 

Committee meets at least annually with the 

external auditors to consider audit findings 

and with the Head of the University Assurance 

Service to approve the Service’s detailed 

assurance reports and suggestions for the 

improvement of the University’s system of 

internal control, together with management’s 

responses and implementation plans. Whilst 

senior University staff, including the Vice-

Chancellor, attend meetings of the Audit 

Committee as necessary, they are not members 

of the Committee, and the Committee meets 

with the external auditors and the Head of 

the University Business Assurance Service in 

the absence of University staff for in camera 

discussions.

Senate Committees

Although Senate meets regularly, each 

academic year, much of its detailed work is 

delegated to committees, in particular the 

Academic Appeals Committee, Discipline 

Committee, Education Committee and Research 

Committee. Further information about these 

committees and their work can be found at: 

www.durham.ac.uk/committees

Executive Committee

A formal University Executive Committee, a joint 

committee of Senate and Council, is chaired 

by the Vice-Chancellor. The other members are 

Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of 
Council in preparation of the Financial Statements and 
System of Internal Control 
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the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (position vacant 

during 2014/15), the Pro Vice-Chancellors, the 

Pro Vice-Chancellor and Deputy Warden, the 

Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial 

Officer. The purpose of the University Executive 

Committee is to manage the University’s 

strategy and steer its business; monitor the 

achievement of the University’s objectives; 

consider and make recommendations to Senate 

and Council on important policy initiatives; to 

take ownership and management of key risks; 

and to co-ordinate planning and recommend 

the annual budget and financial forecasts to 

Finance and General Purposes Committee and 

Council.

Officers

The principal academic and administrative 

officer of the University is the Vice-Chancellor, 

who has general responsibility to Council and 

Senate for maintaining and promoting the 

efficiency and good order of the University. 

Under the terms of the formal Memorandum 

of assurance and accountability between 

the University and the Higher Education 

Funding Council for England (HEFCE), the 

Vice-Chancellor is the accountable officer 

of the University and in that capacity can 

be summoned to appear before the Public 

Accounts Committee of the House of Commons.

As chief executive of the University, the Vice-

Chancellor exercises considerable influence 

upon the development of institutional strategy, 

the identification and planning of new 

developments, and shaping of the institutional 

ethos. The members of the University 

Executive Committee and senior managers all 

contribute in various ways to these aspects of 

the Vice-Chancellor’s work, but the ultimate 

responsibility for what is done rests with 

Council.

The Statutes of the University specify that 

the Registrar and Secretary is Secretary of the 

Council and Senate. This role is currently split 

into two posts with the Chief Operating Officer 

fulfilling the role of Registrar. Any enquiries 

about the constitution and governance of the 

University should be addressed to the University 

Secretary. The Statutes also specify that the 

Treasurer is responsible, under the supervision 

of the Vice-Chancellor, for the financial business 

of the University; this role is performed by the 

Chief Financial Officer.

The University maintains a register of interests 

of members of Council and senior officers 

which may be consulted by arrangement with 

the University Secretary. A register of gifts and 

hospitality received by members of Council and 

University staff is also maintained. 

Code of practice

Council has adopted the CUC HE Code of 

Practice, issued in December 2014. Following 

consideration of a gap analysis report of 

the University’s current practice against 

the seven primary elements of compliance 

contained within the Code, Council has 

agreed some work to be undertaken to ensure 

the University’s compliance can be clearly 

evidenced. In accordance with the Code, the 

Council has adopted a Statement of Primary 

Responsibilities which is based on the Code’s 

model and adapted to reflect the powers 

and responsibilities derived from University 

Statutes. A copy of this statement is available 

at www.durham.ac.uk/committees/council/

responsibilities

Review of Council effectiveness

In accordance with the Code, Council undertook 

a review of its effectiveness during 2010. The 

next quinquennial review will be initiated in 

2015 and is expected to report in 2016. An 

overarching review of University governance 

was conducted during 2013-2014. The 

implementation of recommendations arising 

from that review was stayed pending the 

completion by Senate of its own quinquennial 

review of its effectiveness. This review has 

now concluded and consultation is taking 

place regarding implementation of its 

recommendations. A joint meeting is to take 

place between the members of the Governance 

review group and the Senate Review group to 

discuss the recommendations of both reports 

and how these might be best progressed. 

Responsibilities of Council  
in the preparation of the  
Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the 

administration and management of the affairs of 

the University and is required to present audited 

financial statements for each financial year.

Council is responsible for ensuring that proper 

accounting records are kept which disclose with 

reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial 

position of the University and which enable 

it to ensure that the financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with the University’s 

statutes, the Statement of Recommended 

Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher 

Education and other relevant accounting 

standards. In addition, within the terms and 

conditions of the Memorandum of assurance 

and accountability agreed between the HEFCE 

and the University and the Funding Agreement 

agreed between the National College for 

Teaching and Leadership (NCTL) and the 

University, Council through its designated 

office holder, the Vice-Chancellor, is required to 

prepare financial statements for each financial 

year which give a true and fair view of the 

University’s state of affairs and of the surplus or 

deficit and cash flows for that year.

In causing the financial statements to be 

prepared and in accordance with the exercise 

of its powers under the statutes, Council is 

responsible for ensuring that:

•   suitable accounting policies are selected and 

applied consistently;

•   judgements and estimates which are made 

are reasonable and prudent;

•   applicable accounting standards have been 

followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial 

statements; and

•  it is satisfied that the University has 

adequate resources to continue in operation 

for the foreseeable future: for this reason 

the going concern basis continues to be 

adopted in the preparation of the financial 

statements.

Council has taken reasonable steps to:

•   ensure that funds from the HEFCE are 

used only for the purposes for which 

they have been given and in accordance 

with the Memorandum of assurance and 

accountability and any other conditions 

which the HEFCE may from time to time 

prescribe;

•   ensure that funds from the National College 

for Teaching and Leadership (NCTL) are 

used only for the purposes for which they 

Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of Council in preparation 
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have been given and in accordance with 

the agreement between the NCTL and the 

University and any other conditions, which 

the NCTL may from time to time impose;

•   ensure that there are appropriate financial 

and management controls in place to 

safeguard public funds and funds from other 

sources;

•   safeguard the assets of the University 

and to prevent and detect fraud and other 

irregularities; and

•   secure the economical, efficient and 

effective management of the University’s 

resources and expenditure.

System of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to 

manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 

to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 

can therefore only provide reasonable and not 

absolute assurance of effectiveness.

The system of internal control is based on 

an ongoing process designed to identify the 

risks to the achievement of policies, aims and 

objectives, to evaluate the nature and extent 

of those risks and to manage them efficiently, 

effectively and economically. This process has 

been in place throughout the year ended 31 

July 2015 and up to the date of approval of the 

financial statements, and accords with HEFCE 

guidance and the principles set out in Section 

C2 of the UK Corporate Governance Code 

issued by the Financial Reporting Council in 

September 2012.

As the governing body, Council has 

responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control. The key elements 

of this system include the following:

•  Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, 

and the authority delegated to, individual 

managers.

•  A comprehensive medium and short-term 

planning process, supplemented by detailed 

annual income, expenditure, capital and 

cash flow budgets. Council regularly reviews 

the plans and strategic direction of the 

University. Risk is explicitly addressed in the 

plans of Departments, Faculties, Colleges 

and Professional Support services. 

•  Regular quarterly reviews of key performance 

indicators, business risks and financial 

results involving variance reporting and 

updates of forecast outturns.

•  Clearly defined and formalised requirements 

for approval and control of expenditure, with 

investment decisions involving capital or 

revenue expenditure being subject to formal 

detailed appraisal and review according to 

approved levels set by Council.

•  Comprehensive Financial Regulations, 

detailing financial controls and procedures, 

approved by the Finance and General 

Purposes Committee and received by Audit 

Committee. 

•  The University Executive Committee oversees 

the operation of risk management systems 

and the maintenance and development of 

the Risk Management Framework. 

•  Strategic, operational, programme and 

project risk registers identifying the key 

risks facing the University at each level 

of risk, following a process of assessment 

of likelihood and impact and suitable 

escalation and delegation processes between 

levels of risk.

•  All identified strategic risks are the 

responsibility of a risk owner, (all of whom 

are members of the University Executive 

Committee), who has responsibility for 

overseeing the risk and ensuring control 

actions have been adequately developed to 

manage the risk satisfactorily. All risks have 

been assessed in terms of likelihood and 

impact. Identified risk reporting managers 

report to risk owners over the management 

and mitigation of risk.

•  The University Executive Committee reports 

to Council on matters concerning risk 

management and internal control. Risk 

owners are responsible for alerting the 

Executive Committee of significant matters 

associated with business risk.

•  Strategic risks facing the University are 

identified and recorded on the Register of 

Key Strategic Risks which is kept up to date 

by in-depth consultation with risk owners 

on a quarterly basis and reported to Audit 

Committee and Council.

Council’s review of the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control is informed by the 

University Assurance Service, which operates to 

international auditing standards defined in the 

Definition of Internal Auditing Code of Ethics 

International Standards for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing (January 2011) 

published by the Chartered Institute of Internal 

Auditors. Use of these standards is prescribed 

by the HEFCE in the Accountability and Audit 

Code of Practice (Annex B of the Memorandum 

of assurance and accountability between HEFCE 

and institutions). The University Assurance 

Service (supported by an external provider) 

undertakes a planned programme of assurance 

reviews as part of a risk-based strategic and 

annual assurance plan and reports its findings 

to the University’s management and Audit 

Committee. These are summarised in an annual 

report which includes an independent opinion 

on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

University’s arrangements for the provision of 

adequate internal control, corporate governance, 

risk management and the achievement of value 

for money with suggestions for improvements. 

In line with HEFCE’s current requirements 

this opinion also considers the adequacy 

and effectiveness of arrangements for the 

management and quality assurance of data 

submitted to the Higher Education Statistics 

Agency by the University. 

From an assessment of the performance of 

the University Assurance Service by the Audit 

Committee, informed by the views of the Vice-

Chancellor (to whom it reports), it is considered 

that these arrangements were effective for the 

year ended 31 July 2015.

Our review of the effectiveness of the system 

of internal control is also informed by the 

work of the executive managers within the 

University, who have the responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the internal 

control framework, and by comments made by 

the external auditors in their management letter 

and other reports.

Signed on behalf of Durham University on  
17 November 2015. 

R Gillespie 
Chair of Council

Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of Council in preparation 
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We have audited the group and University 

financial statements (the ‘‘financial 

statements’’) of Durham University for the 

year ended 31 July 2015 which comprise 

the Consolidated Income and Expenditure 

Account, the Consolidated and University 

Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 

Statement, the Statement of Consolidated 

Total Recognised Gains and Losses and the 

related notes. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice). 

This report is made solely to the University 

Council, in accordance with the Charter and 

Statutes of the University. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Council those matters we are required to state 

to it in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the Council for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we 

have formed.

Respective responsibilities 
of the Council and auditor

As explained more fully in the Responsibilities 

of Council Statement set out on page 19, the 

Council is responsible for the preparation of 

financial statements which give a true and 

fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and 

express an opinion, on the financial statements 

in accordance with applicable law and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and 

Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors. 

The maintenance and integrity of the Durham 

University website is the responsibility of the 

Council; the work carried out by the auditors 

does not involve consideration of these matters 

and, accordingly, the auditors accept no 

responsibility for any changes that may have 

occurred to the financial statements since they 

were initially presented on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 

the preparation and dissemination of financial 

statements may differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.

Scope of the audit of 
the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 

whether the accounting policies are appropriate 

to the Group’s and University’s circumstances 

and have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the 

Council; and the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. In addition, we read all 

the financial and non-financial information 

in the Operating and Financial Review to 

identify material inconsistencies with the 

audited financial statements and to identify 

any information that is apparently materially 

incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent 

with, the knowledge acquired by us in the 

course of performing the audit. If we become 

aware of any apparent material misstatements 

or inconsistencies we consider the implications 

for our report.

 

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the 

affairs of the Group and University as at 31 

July 2015 and of the Group’s income and 

expenditure, recognised gains and losses 

and cash flows for the year then ended; and

•  have been properly prepared in accordance 

with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice and with the 2007 

Statement of Recommended Practice 

– Accounting for Further and Higher 

Education; and

•  meet the requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts 

direction to higher education institutions for 

2014-15 financial statements.

Opinion on other matters prescribed 
in the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice 
issued under the Further and Higher 
Education Act 1992

In our opinion, in all material respects:

•  funds from whatever source administered 

by the University for specific purposes have 

been properly applied to those purposes 

and managed in accordance with relevant 

legislation; 

•  income has been applied in accordance with 

the University’s Statutes; 

•  funds provided by HEFCE have been applied 

in accordance with the Memorandum of 

Assurance and Accountability and any other 

terms and conditions attached to them; and

•  the corporate governance and internal 

control requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts 

direction to higher education institutions for 

2014-15 financial statements have been 

met. 

Mick Thompson 

Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of KPMG LLP  

Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants  

Quayside House 

110 Quayside 

Newcastle upon Tyne 

NE1 3DX

19 November 2015

 Independent auditors’ report to 
the Council of Durham University 
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 

1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of endowment asset 
investments and certain land and buildings 
for which a cost is not readily ascertainable, 
and in accordance with both the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting 
in Further and Higher Education 2007 and 
applicable accounting standards.

Council has a reasonable expectation that the 
University and its subsidiary undertakings have 
adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

2. Basis of Consolidation

The financial statements consolidate the 
financial statements of the University and its 
subsidiary undertakings for the financial year to 
31 July.

The consolidated financial statements include 
the results of student organisations that have 
elected to opt into a framework enabling them to 
operate within the organisational and governance 
structure of the University but do not include 
those of the student bodies which are separate 
entities, as the University has no significant 
control or influence over the policy decisions of 
those bodies.

The University has investment shareholdings 
in unquoted companies over which it has 
no significant influence on policy or strategy 
decisions. These companies are not consolidated 
but are accounted for as investments at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value.

3. Recognition of Income

The recurrent grant from the Higher Education 
Funding Council for England (HEFCE) represents 
the funding allocation attributable to the current 
financial year and is credited direct to the 
income and expenditure account. 

Income from specific grants from HEFCE, 
research grants, contracts and other services 
rendered is recognised to the extent that 
expenditure incurred in these areas during the 
year is funded by such income. Income received 
in excess of expenditure is held as a deferred 
creditor; expenditure in excess of related 
income is charged during the year in which it is 
incurred.

Fee income is stated gross, any bursaries being 
accounted for as expenditure and not deductions 
from income.

Donations with restrictions are recognised when 
relevant conditions have been met. Donations to 
be retained for the benefit of the University are 
recognised in the statement of total recognised 
gains and losses as endowments; other 
donations are included in other income in the 
income and expenditure account. 

Grants or donations in respect of fixed assets 
(whether as money or assets) are treated as 
deferred capital grants, the treatment of which 
is set out in item 7 below.

All income from the investment of non-
endowment funds, including short-term 
deposits, and from restricted endowment 
investments is credited to the income and 
expenditure account on a receivable basis.

Funds for which the University acts only 
as paying agent, namely Access Funds and 
National College for Teaching and Leadership 
Agency, are excluded from the income and 
expenditure account.

4. Pension Schemes

The University participates in the Universities 

Superannuation Scheme (USS) and in the 

Durham University Pension Scheme (DUPS), 

both of which are defined benefit schemes, 

externally funded and contracted out of the 

State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of 

the schemes are held in separate trustee-

administered funds. 

The funds are valued every three years by 

professionally qualified independent actuaries 

using the projected unit method, the rates 

of contribution payable being determined by 

the trustees on the advice of the actuaries. In 

the intervening years, the actuaries review the 

progress of the schemes. 

The University accounts for the costs, assets 

and liabilities of DUPS in accordance with 

FRS17 “Retirement Benefits”. Because of the 

mutual nature of USS, the University is unable 

to identify its share of the scheme’s assets 

and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable 

basis and therefore accounts for this scheme 

as if it were a defined contribution scheme, 

as required by FRS17 “Retirement Benefits”. 

As a result, the amount charged to the income 

and expenditure account represents the 

contributions payable to the scheme in respect 

of the accounting period.

The University also contributes to a defined 

contribution scheme in compliance with 

the government’s automatic enrolment 

requirements.

5. Foreign Currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling 
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into sterling either 
at the rates at the date of the balance sheet 
or, where there are related forward exchange 
contracts, at contract rates. The resulting 
exchange differences are dealt with in the 
determination of income and expenditure for 
the financial year.

6. Leases

Rental costs under operating leases are charged 
to expenditure in equal annual amounts over 
the periods of the leases.

7. Tangible Fixed Assets

a) Capitalisation

Tangible assets are capitalised where they 
are capable of being used for a period which 
exceeds one year and which:

•  Individually have a cost equal to or greater 
than £10,000; or

•  Collectively have a cost equal to or greater 
than £10,000 where the assets are 
functionally interdependent or are purchased 
together and intended to be used as a group 
under common management control; or

•  Irrespective of their individual cost, form 
part of the initial equipping of a new 
building.

Expenditure on a tangible asset after its initial 
purchase is capitalised where it increases the 
expected future benefits to the University from 
that asset beyond its previous standard of 
performance, the cost of such enhancement 
being added to the gross cost of the relevant 
asset.

b) Valuation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or, in 
the case of buildings for which the cost cannot 
readily be ascertained, at valuation. 

The transitional rules set out in FRS 15 
Tangible Fixed Assets have been applied and 
the book values of assets at implementation 
have been retained.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset 
is carried out if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of the fixed asset may not be recoverable.
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c) Depreciation

Land is not depreciated. Other tangible assets 
are depreciated on a straight line basis over 

their useful life as follows:

No depreciation is charged on assets in the 

course of construction.

d) Capital grants

Where assets are donated or acquired with 
the aid of specific grants or donations they 
are capitalised and depreciated as above. The 
related grants and donations are treated as 
deferred capital grants and released to income 
over the expected useful life of the asset (or 
the period of the grant in respect of specific 
research projects).

e) Heritage assets

Assets meeting the definition of a heritage 
asset that have a cost or value of over £10,000 
and were acquired since 1 August 2007 are 
capitalised at cost or value on acquisition, 
where such a valuation is reasonably obtainable. 
Such assets are not depreciated. 

Other heritage assets are not capitalised as 
obtaining and maintaining valuations for them 
would be prohibitively expensive due to the 
extent of the collections. 

Heritage assets are defined in FRS 30 as 
tangible assets with historical, artistic, 
scientific, technological, geophysical or 
environmental qualities that are held and 
maintained principally for their contribution to 
knowledge and culture.

8. Investments

Investments in subsidiary companies are stated 
at fair value for quoted shares or original cost for 
other investments and reviewed for impairment 
where appropriate.

Endowment investments and properties are 
included in the balance sheet at market 
value. Endowment properties are subject 
to 5-yearly revaluations. An internal review 
shows no significant movements to indicate 
a formal valuation is necessary. Current asset 
investments are included in the balance sheet 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Term deposits held as part of the University’s 
treasury management activity are treated as 
investments. 

9. Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

10. Cash and Liquid Resources

Cash flows comprise increases or decreases 
in cash. Cash includes cash in hand, deposits 
repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits 
are repayable on demand if they are available 
within 24 hours without penalty. Liquid 
resources comprise assets held as a readily 
disposable store of value. They exclude any such 
assets held as endowment asset investments.

11. Financial Instruments

Costs of financial instruments used to hedge 
interest rate risk are accounted for as they fall 
due to be paid.

12. Provisions

Provisions are made where the University has a 
present financial obligation as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a cost will arise 
on settlement of the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of its value.

13. Taxation

The University is an exempt charity within 
the meaning of Schedule 3 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and as such is a charity within the 
meaning of Section 506(1) of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act (ICTA) 1988. Accordingly, 
the University is potentially exempt from 
taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by Section 
505 of ICTA 1988 and Section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the 
extent that such income or gains are applied to 
exclusively charitable purposes. 

The University receives no similar exemption in 
respect of Value Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT 
on inputs is included in the cost of such inputs, 
including tangible fixed assets. 

The charge for taxation is based on the result 
for the year and takes into account taxation 
deferred because of timing differences between 
the treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes. A deferred tax liability 
is provided for if transactions or events giving 
rise to an obligation to pay more tax in the 
future, or less tax in the future, have occurred 
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that they are 
considered recoverable in the future.

14. Joint venture

The University’s share of income and 

expenditure in joint venture entities is reported 

in the consolidated income and expenditure 

account and its share of assets and liabilities 

of joint venture entities is recognised in the 

consolidated balance sheet using the gross 

equity method in accordance with FRS 9 – 

Associates and Joint Ventures.

15. Endowment funds

Where charitable donations are to be retained 

for the benefit of the institution as specified 

by the donors, these are accounted for as 

endowments. There are three main types:

• Unrestricted permanent endowments 
  where the donor has specified that the fund 

is to be permanently invested to generate an 

income stream for the general benefit of the 

institution;

• Restricted permanent endowments 
  where the donor has specified that the fund 

is to be permanently invested to generate an 

income stream to be applied to a particular 

objective; and

• Restricted expendable endowments
  where the donor has specified a particular 

objective, other than the purchase or 

construction of tangible fixed assets, and the 

institution can convert the donated sum into 

income.

Gifts in kind are included in other income or 

deferred capital grants as appropriate using a 

reasonable estimate of their gross value or the 

amount actually realised.

Buildings 
15 to 50 years according to the 
designated useful life of its components

General and scientific equipment, 
furniture and I T infrastructure  
8 years

Motor vehicles and computer  
equipment and software  
4 years

Equipment acquired for 
specific research projects 
Project life (generally 3 years)

Statement of Principal Accounting Policies continued
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Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account
for the year ended 31 July 2015
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 Note 2015 2014 

  £’000 £’000

Income

Funding Council grants 1 43,356 52,727

Tuition fees and education contracts 2 160,912 138,080

Research grants and contracts 3 62,101 54,085

Other income 4 59,931 57,283

Endowment and investment Income 5 1,750 1,729

Total Income  328,050 303,904

Less share of income from joint venture 14  (38)  (41) 

Net income  328,012 303,863

Expenditure

Staff costs 6 174,522 166,693

Other operating expenses 8 98,978 101,647

Depreciation 12 21,519 19,949

Interest and other finance costs 9 5,639 5,857

Total expenditure  300,658 294,146

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation and before tax  27,354 9,717

Taxation 10 (1,385) –

Surplus before non-recurring items  25,969 9,717

Non-recurring items  

Surplus on disposal of fixed asset property 12 381 681

Surplus on continuing operations after depreciation of 
assets at valuation, disposal of assets and tax  26,350 10,398

Deficit transferred to endowment funds 25 1,555 1,691

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 11 27,905 12,089

All items of income and expenditure arise from continuing operations



Statement of Consolidated Total Recognised Gains and Losses
for the year ended 31 July 2015   

 Note 2015 2014 

  £’000 £’000 

Surplus for the year  26,350 10,398

New endowments 25 2,791 2,422

Appreciation of endowment asset investments 25 2,430 700

Appreciation of current asset investments  18 4,114 –

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme 30 (5,449) (4,095)

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year  30,236 9,425

Reconciliation

Opening reserves and endowments  185,023 175,598

Total recognised gains and losses for the year  30,236 9,425

Closing reserves and endowments  215,259 185,023
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2015

 Note Consolidated University

  2015 2014 2015 2014

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 12 391,003 369,889 391,567 370,430

Investments 13 140 140 141 141

Investments in joint venture 

– Share of gross assets 14 28 31  _   _ 

– Share of gross liabilities 14 (28) (31)  _ _

  391,143 370,029 391,708 370,571

Endowment assets 15 71,078 67,412 71,078 67,412

Current assets 
– Stock 16 581 615 402 428 

– Debtors 17 22,686 25,347 23,237 25,729 

– Investments 18 33,246 1,972 33,246 1,972 

– Cash at bank and in hand 19 45,480 46,118 44,901 45,719

  101,993 74,052 101,786 73,848

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 20 (73,318) (67,995) (73,003) (67,754)

Net current assets  28,675 6,057 28,783 6,094

Total assets less current liabilities  490,896 443,498 491,569 444,077

Less: creditors amounts falling due after 
more than one year 21 (131,782) (117,112) (131,782) (117,112)

Less: provisions for liabilities 23 (1,121) (1,291) (298) (473)

Total net assets excluding pension liability  357,993 325,095 359,489 326,492

Net pension liability 30 (34,227) (29,074) (34,227) (29,074)

Net assets including pension liability  323,766 296,021 325,262 297,418
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 Note Consolidated University

  2015 2014 2015 2014

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred capital grants 24 108,507 110,998 108,507 110,998

Endowments 
Expendable 25 14,997 13,340 14,997 13,340 

Permanent 25 56,081 54,072 56,081 54,072

  71,078 67,412 71,078 67,412

Reserves

Income and expenditure account 

excluding pension reserve 26 178,408 146,685 179,904 148,082

Pension reserve 26 (34,227) (29,074) (34,227) (29,074)

Income and expenditure account 

including pension reserve  144,181 117,611 145,677 119,008

Total funds  323,766 296,021 325,262 297,418

The Financial Statements on pages 22 to 57 were approved by the Council on 17 November 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

R Gillespie 
Chairman of Council

S Corbridge 
Vice-Chancellor

S McGill 
Chief Financial Officer 

Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2015 continued

27



 Note 2015 2014 

  £’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 27 41,485 24,577

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

– Income from endowments  1,122 1,075 

– Income from short term investments and other interest received  604 654 

– Interest paid  (5,643) (5,436)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance  (3,917) (3,707)

Capital expenditure and financial investment

– Tangible assets acquired  (36,613) (33,047) 

– Disposal of fixed asset investment  – 54 

– Endowment assets acquired  (1,421) (1,777)

  (38,034) (34,770)

– Receipts from sales of endowment assets  1,218 1,678 

– Proceeds from sales of fixed assets  969 708 

– Deferred capital grants received 24 7,369 7,086 

– Endowments received 25 2,791 2,422

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment  (25,687) (22,876)

Cash inflow / (outflow) before use of liquid resources and financing  11,881 (2,006)

Management of liquid resources 29 (27,160) (16)

Financing

– New loans  17,838 20,000 

– Capital repayments  (3,244) (3,245)

(Decrease) / Increase in cash in the year 29 (685) 14,733

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2015

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt 

(Decrease) / Increase in cash in the year 29 (685) 14,733

Change in short term deposits 29 27,160 16

Repayment of debt 28 3,244 3,245

Increase in loan financing 28 (17,914) (20,000)

Change in net debt 29 11,805 (2,006)

Net debt at 1 August 29 (63,586) (61,580)

Net debt at 31 July 29 (51,781) (63,586)
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  Note 2015 2014 

   £’000 £’000

1. Funding Council grants

HEFCE

– Recurrent grant  38,205 46,459 

– Specific grants  596 1,103

– Deferred capital grant released in year 24 

 • Buildings  1,695 1,705 

 • Equipment  2,860 3,036

Total HEFCE Grants  43,356 52,303

NCTL 

– Recurrent grant  – 422 

– Specific grants  – 2

Total NCTL Grants  – 424

    43,356 52,727

2. Tuition fees and education contracts

Full-time home and EU students  97,474 79,812

Full-time international students   53,280 46,868

Part-time students  3,500 3,851

Short courses  2,500 2,420

Research training support grants  3,792 4,601

Other fees  366 528

     160,912 138,080

3. Research grants and contracts

Research Councils   20,911 20,086

Central /Local Government  9,922 9,988

Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC)  6,355 –

EU Government  9,572 9,174

UK industries  4,508 4,277

UK charities  4,479 4,542

Other overseas  3,153 2,931

Other sources  138 142

Released from deferred capital grants 24 3,063 2,945

    62,101 54,085

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) from Central Government is an exceptional receipt in 2015 only. The related tax charge is 

included in note 10. The claim covers the period 1st August 2012 to 31st July 2014 and an estimate for the year to 31st July 2015.



  Note 2015 2014 

   £’000 £’000

4. Other income  

Residences, catering and conferences  40,245 37,527

Other services rendered  5,898 5,351

Other income  11,378 11,923

Donations  1,185 1,206

Income from joint venture  38 41

Released from deferred capital grants 24 1,187 1,235

    59,931 57,283

5. Endowment and investment income

Income from expendable endowments  242 236

Income from permanent endowments  880 839

Income from short term investments   464 398

Net gain on sale of general investments   140 256

Net return on pension scheme   24 –

    1,750 1,729

    2015 2014 

    No. No. 

6. Staff

Full time equivalent staff numbers by type:

Academic   1,602 1,492

Professional and technical  993 997

Administrative and clerical  670 678

Facilities and other support  615 693

     3,880 3,860

Staff numbers are categorised using HESA definitions. 
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  Note 2015 2014  

   £’000 £’000

6. Staff costs    

Staff costs: 

Salaries   143,190 136,836

Social security costs  10,761 10,320

    
Pension costs:   

USS   30(a) 16,807 15,958

DUPS   30(b) 3,644 3,473

NOW   30(c) 83 77

NHS   30(d) 37 29

    174,522 166,693 
 
Staff costs analysed by activity    

Academic departments  88,468 82,911

Academic services  13,644 13,008

General educational expenditure  4,122 3,584

Premises  5,240 5,450

Administration and central services  13,109 11,764

Student and staff facilities and amenities  9,462 9,217

Residences, catering and conferences  13,457 13,424

Miscellaneous expenditure  1,245 1,501

Research grants and contracts  23,207 22,950

Other services rendered  2,568 2,884

    174,522 166,693

7. Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor    

Salary         231 247

Pension contribution to USS            37 40

    268 287

Emoluments of the Acting Vice-Chancellor 

Salary   243 –

Pension contribution to USS  – –

    243 –

The Acting Vice-Chancellor’s emoluments in 2014 are disclosed under “emoluments of other higher paid staff”.
The Vice-Chancellor gave notice that he intended to retire, at age 60, on the 30th June 2015. As part of transitional arrangements he stepped down as Vice-
Chancellor in October 2014, continuing to serve as Pro-Chancellor until his retirement in June 2015. From October 2014 executive responsibilities were assumed 
by the Acting Vice-Chancellor (previously the Deputy Vice-Chancellor) who continued in this role until 31 August 2015 when the new Vice-Chancellor took up post.
In addition to the disclosures above, £82,000 was paid to the Vice Chancellor at the conclusion of his role as an ambassador for the University, funded from normal 
operational activities. 
The emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor and Acting Vice-Chancellor are shown on the same basis as for higher paid staff.
The University’s contributions to USS are paid at the same rate as for other academic staff.
The University operates salary sacrifice arrangements for pension contributions and the Vice-Chancellor participates. This is the only salary sacrifice arrangement 
that the Vice-Chancellor has benefitted from in the period. 
The other disclosures required in relation to Vice-Chancellor’s emoluments (performance bonus, taxable expense allowance or benefits, contribution to relocation 
costs) did not apply. 
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   2015 2014 

   No. No.

7. Emoluments of Other Higher Paid Staff

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions

£100,000 -  £109,999  10 10

£110,000 -  £119,999  12 9

£120,000 -  £129,999  3 4

£130,000 -  £139,999  3 2

£140,000 -  £149,999  4 2

£150,000 -  £159,999  1 2 

£160,000 -  £169,999  1 –

£170,000 -  £179,999  1 4

£180,000 -  £189,999  1 –

    36 33

2014 numbers have been restated following a change of basis for 2015 in the HEFCE Accounts Direction.

    2015 2014 

    £’000 £’000 

8. Other operating expenses analysed by activity

Academic departments 10,616 11,124

Academic services 11,294 10,454

General educational expenditure 20,654 19,175

Premises 16,131 17,259

Administration and central services 2,939 3,580

Student and staff facilities and amenities 7,437 7,450

Residences, catering and conferences 11,276 11,676

Pensions 48 30

Miscellaneous expenditure 2,770 5,023

Research grants and contracts 13,466 13,379

Other services rendered 2,347 2,497

  98,978 101,647

Other operating expenses include:   

 

Auditor’s remuneration (including £8,930 for subsidiary 54 67  

companies; 2014: £11,250)   

   

Trustees are not remunerated for their work, but are reimbursed for reasonable expenses. A total amount of £24,121 was paid out for travel, 

accommodation and subsistence for 17 trustees in the year 2015 (2014: £19,533 for 11 trustees).
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   2015 2014  

   £’000 £’000

9. Interest payable and other finance costs

On bank and other loans: 

repayable wholly or partly in more than five years  5,639 5,503

Net pension finance costs  – 354

   5,639 5,857

10. Taxation

A provision has been made for the future cost of capital goods scheme items (see note 23). The sum reflects future amounts that will have to be repaid to 

HM Revenue and Customs where estimated future annual partial exemption recovery rates are less than the rate when the item was put into use. 

Apart from the corporation tax deducted from Research and Development Expenditure Credit claims, Council does not believe that the University or 

its subsidiaries and associates were liable for any corporation tax arising out of their activities during the year. Such taxable profits as are made by the 

subsidiary companies are transferred under gift aid arrangements to the University where distributable profits are available and consequently no corporation 

tax is due.

Deferred tax is provided in subsidiary companies to the extent that originating timing differences give rise to a potential future tax liability in a subsidiary 

entity. At 31st July 2015 the liability was £nil.

   2015 2014  

   £’000 £’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax suffered on Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) claims  1,385 –

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences  – –

11. Surplus for the Year

University surplus for the year  28,004 12,118

Net loss generated by subsidiary companies  (99) (29)

    27,905 12,089
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 Consolidated

  

12. Tangible Assets

Valuation / cost 
At 1 August 2014

– Valuation 8,084 –  –  –  8,084 
– Cost 401,033 120,170 9,123 2,106 532,432

Additions  –  2 43,235 – 43,237 
Capitalisation 31,930 9,358 (41,298) 10 – 
Disposals (222) (2,663) (335) – (3,220)

At 31 July 2015 
– Valuation 8,084 – – – 8,084 
– Cost 432,741 126,867 10,725 2,116 572,449

Depreciation 

At 1 August 2014 89,508 81,119        –   –  170,627 
Charge for year 9,971 11,548 – – 21,519 
Disposals (29) (2,587)    –         – (2,616)

At 31 July 2015 99,450 90,080 – – 189,530

Net book value

At 31 July 2015 341,375 36,787 10,725 2,116 391,003

At 1 August 2014 319,609 39,051 9,123 2,106 369,889

Financed by capital grant 90,856 14,259 3,187 205 108,507 
Other 250,519 22,528 7,538 1,911 282,496

Net book value at 31 July 2015 341,375 36,787 10,725 2,116 391,003

The non-recurring surplus on disposal of fixed asset property (£381,000) is principally a surplus on disposal of a property in Church Street, reduced by the 

cost of the University’s option to develop on the north shore of the River Tees at Queens Campus. A decision not to proceed to development was taken by 

Council on 29 September 2015.
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 University

  

12. Tangible assets - continued

Valuation / cost 
At 1 August 2014

– Valuation 8,084   – – – 8,084 

– Cost 399,577 120,117 9,121 2,106 530,921

Additions – – 43,235 – 43,235 

Capitalisation 31,930 9,358 (41,298) 10 – 
Disposals (222) (2,663) (335) – (3,220)

At 31 July 2015 

– Valuation 8,084 – – – 8,084 

– Cost 431,285 126,812 10,723 2,116 570,936

Depreciation 

At 1 August 2014 87,502 81,073 – – 168,575 
Charge for year 9,950 11,544 – – 21,494 

Disposals (29) (2,587) – – (2,616)

At 31 July 2015 97,423 90,030 – – 187,453

Net book value

At 31 July 2015 341,946 36,782 10,723 2,116 391,567

At 1 August 2014 320,159 39,044 9,121 2,106 370,430

Financed by capital grant 90,856 14,259 3,187 205 108,507 

Other 251,090 22,523 7,536 1,911 283,060 

Net book value at 31 July 2015 341,946 36,782 10,723 2,116 391,567
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12. Tangible assets - continued

Heritage Assets

Only heritage assets with an initial cost or value over £10,000 and acquired after 1 August 2007 are capitalised. Durham University holds other heritage 
assets in its Libraries and Museums, information about which may be found at: www.durham.ac.uk/library/asc. Included in these collections are materials 
in many formats such as paper and parchment manuscripts, printed books, photographs, maps, prints, moving images, museum artefacts etc. The 
University has not capitalised these assets as obtaining and maintaining valuations for them would be prohibitively expensive due to the extent of the 
collections.

The Library’s collecting policy for its Archives and Special Collections is designed to support the research and teaching of Durham University, and to 
develop coherent collections which build on existing strengths as a service to scholarship generally. In considering any acquisition, therefore, attention is 
paid to its scholarly significance, its appropriateness to the University’s academic needs and priorities, and its relation to the Library’s existing collections 
and to the existing pattern of national and regional collections. 

This year’s acquisition is a David Venables mural located at the Business School. 

Heritage asset acquisitions 

  2015 2014 2013 2012 Earlier

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Acquisitions purchased with specific donations  – 103 93 – 9

Acquisitions purchased with University funds  10 77 967 845 12

Total acquisitions capitalised  10 180 1,060 845 21
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14. Investment in joint venture

The University has a 12.5% share in N8 Limited, a company limited by guarantee which is a joint venture company owned equally by eight research 
intensive Northern universities. The company is accounted for as a joint venture using the gross equity method such that 12.5% of the company’s net 
income is reported in the University’s consolidated income and expenditure account and 12.5% of its gross assets and liabilities are incorporated into the 
University’s consolidated balance sheet.

  Consolidated

    

   2015 2014

   £’000 £’000

Income and expenditure account   
 

Income  38 41

Surplus  – –

    

Balance sheet   
 

Current assets  28 31 

Long term liabilities  (28) (31)

Share of net assets  – –

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

13. Fixed asset investments 

 Consolidated University

     
 2015 2014 2015 2014

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

     
  

Long term investments 140 140 140 140

Investments in subsidiary companies at cost – – 1 1

  140 140 141 141
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   Consolidated and University

    2015 2014

    £’000 £’000

15. Endowment assets

At 1 August 67,412 65,981

New endowments 2,791 2,422

Increase in market value of investments 2,430 700

Other movements in cash balances held for endowment funds (1,555) (1,691)

At 31 July 71,078 67,412

Represented by   

Pooled investment funds 38,635 35,584

Land and property 15,815 15,815

Loan to University funds 7,994 7,332

Short term deposits 8,634 8,681

Total endowment asset investments 71,078 67,412

   

Property valuations were made as at 31st July 2012 by Knight Frank, chartered surveyors.  

The loan to University funds bears interest at a commercial rate.

  Consolidated University

 Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

16. Stock

Goods for resale  561 595 402 428

Durham University Developments Ltd. 

– development land for resale 23 20 20 – –

   581 651 402 428

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

38

 Note



  Consolidated University

  2015 2014 2015 2014

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

17. Debtors

Amounts falling due within one year:

Debtors  20,419 22,953 20,118 22,679

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings  – – 852 656

Prepayments and accrued income  1,234 1,314 1,234 1,314

  21,653 24,267 22,204 24,649

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Debtors  1,033 1,080 1,033 1,080

  22,686 25,347 23,237 25,729

18. Current asset investments

General funds invested in securities  4,599 966 4,599 966

Short-term deposits  28,647 1,006 28,647 1,006

  33,246 1,972 33,246 1,972

The University holds shares in Kromek plc and Applied Graphene Materials plc. The shares of both companies are quoted on the AIM and the value of 

the shares has been based on market value. The shares were subject at 31st July 2015 to soft lock-in agreements restricting their sale and consequently 

their market value has been discounted by 10% to £4,114,000 to reflect this restriction. 

Accounts held as short term deposits range from 10 to 252 days maturity.

19. Cash at bank and in hand

Opening balance  46,118 30,477 45,719 29,804

Movement in the year  (638) 15,641 (818) 15,915

  45,480 46,118 44,901 45,719
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  Consolidated University

  2015 2014 2015 2014

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

20. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Bank loans and overdrafts  3,107 3,107 3,107 3,107

Endowment fund loans  138 138 138 138

Trade creditors  24,020 17,579 23,924 17,526

Capital grants not yet expended  1,121 126 1,121 126

Research grants received on account  25,216 28,910 25,216 28,910

Social security and other taxation payable  4,460 4,125 4,460 4,125

Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings  – – 32 29

Accruals and deferred income  15,256 14,010 15,005 13,793

  73,318 67,995 73,003 67,754

21. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Bank loans and overdrafts  123,926 109,918 123,926 109,918

Endowment fund loans  7,856 7,194 7,856 7,194

  131,782 117,112 131,782 117,112

22. Borrowings

Bank loans repayable:     

In one year or less  3,107 3,107 3,107 3,107

Between one and two years  3,457 3,107 3,457 3,107

Between two and five years  27,486 10,371 27,486 10,371

In five years or more  92,983 96,440 92,983 96,440

  127,033 113,025 127,033 113,025

Bank loans

On 26 July 2004 the University agreed a loan facility for £92 million. The loan is unsecured and the terms are as follows:

• An existing loan of £41 million repayable in equal quarterly instalments over a 30 year period providing finance for capital expenditure. 

•  An additional loan facility of up to £12 million repayable in equal instalments over a 30 year period providing additional finance for capital 
expenditure. At 31 July 2015 this facility had been fully drawn down. 

•  A further loan facility of up to £35.5 million, plus £1.5m interest added to the principal sum, repayable over a 30 year period commencing on 31 
October 2006. The loan is profiled so that the repayments increase during the course of the loan. At 31 July 2015 this facility had been fully drawn 
down and £1.5 million interest had been added to the principal sum.
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22. Borrowings continued 

On 24 June 2010 an additional loan facility to support the University’s capital programme was agreed as follows: up to £70 million was available as a 
revolving credit facility until 23 December 2013, following which £45 million was established as a term loan over 27 years, to be repaid wholly at the 
end of the term. The remaining £25 million will be available as a revolving credit facility until 23 June 2020 when, if drawn, it will be established as a 
term loan on the same basis as above. At 31 July 2015 £55 million had been drawn under this facility. 

On 30 June 2014 loan funding was agreed with the North East Local Enterprise Partnership. The loan is for £10 million to support IT infrastructure 
development including high performance computing and data management facilities as phase one of a larger project to develop novel complex data 
handling and laboratory space. The rate of interest is fixed at 1.9% and the loan is repayable over ten years commencing 30 June 2019. At 31st July 
2015 £7,039,000 had been drawn down and £76,000 interest added to the principle sum.

The loan liabilities have been classified according to the maturity rate of the longest permitted refinancing.

Interest rate hedging

Under the terms of the 2010 loan, the University committed to hedging at least 60% of its outstanding loan balances and has developed and 
implemented a hedging strategy to achieve this over the term of the loans with additional protection against interest rate fluctuations for an additional 
25% of the outstanding balance until July 2020. The hedging instruments in place at 31 July 2015 were as follows:

  Consolidated

  

  2014           (decreased) Utilised 2015

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

23. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Infrastructure funding  818 5  – 823 
Capital goods scheme  473 (160) (15) 298

  1,291 (155) (15) 1,121

 University

Capital goods scheme  473 (160) (15) 298

  473 (160) (15) 298

Infrastructure funding

Durham University Developments Ltd entered into an agreement with a developer to carry out infrastructure works costing a maximum of £1 million, of 
which £600,000 is an interest free loan (index-linked to the RPI). After 10 years the development of the site is incomplete and hence the proportion of 
the loan relating to undeveloped plots is repayable by the Company.

Capital goods scheme

The provision relates to amounts payable to HM Revenue and Customs over the next ten years for items falling within the capital goods scheme. The 

provision arises because partial exemption recovery rates are expected to decrease in future years.  

•  £7.1 million amortising to 
nil by March 2027, fixed at 
5.66%;

•  £29.5 million amortising to nil 
by July 2034, fixed at 5.36%;

•  £29.1 million rising to £30.9 
million by July 2027 then 
amortising to £27 million by 
July 2034 and then level until 
June 2040, fixed at 4.61%;

•  £27.4 million amortising to 
£23.4 million by July 2020, 
fixed at 3.97%.
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22. Borrowings continued

 Increased / 



 Consolidated and University

  

24. Deferred Capital Grants

Funding Council 

At 1 August 2014 55,761 9,732 384 –             65,877

Grants received – – 3,169 – 3,169

Grants transferred to creditors – – (256) – (256)

Grants capitalised  661 1,775 (2,436) – –

Disposal – (34) – – (34)

Released to income and expenditure (1,695) (2,860) – – (4,555)

       
At 31 July 2015 54,727 8,613 861 – 64,201

       
Research grants       
  

At 1 August 2014 4,782 6,686 120 –               11,588

Grants received – – 1,161 – 1,161

Grants capitalised  – (18) – – (18)

Transfer – 1,257 (1,257) – –

Released to income and expenditure (126) (2,937) – – (3,063)

       
At 31 July 2015 4,656 4,988 24 – 9,668

       
Other grants and benefactions       
  

At 1 August 2014 32,147 796 385 205 33,533

Grants received  – – 3,039 – 3,039

Grants transferred to creditors – – (738) – (738)

Grants capitalised 296 88 (384) – –

Disposal – (9) – – (9)

Released to income and expenditure (970) (217) – – (1,187)

       
At 31 July 2015 31,473 658 2,302 205 34,638

       
Totals      
 

At 31 July 2015 90,856 14,259 3,187 205 108,507

At 1 August 2014 92,690 17,214 889 205 110,998

Land and 
buildings

Equipment Assets under 
construction

Heritage 
assets

Total
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 Consolidated and University

  

 
25. Endowments

At 1 August 2014

Capital 27,929 24,350 52,279 13,205 65,484 64,122

Accumulated income               –  1,793 1,793 135 1,928 1,859

  27,929 26,143 54,072 13,340 67,412 65,981

New endowments – 147 147 2,644 2,791 2,422

Transfers  – (186) (186) 186 – –

          
Investment income 199 681 880 242 1,122 1,075

Expenditure (199) (626) (825) (1,852) (2,677) (2,766)

   – 55 55 (1,610) (1,555) (1,691)

Movement in market value 355 1,638 1,993 437 2,430 700

         
At 31 July 2015 28,284 27,797 56,081 14,997 71,078 67,412

         
  

Represented by        
Capital  28,284 26,003 54,287 14,823 69,110 65,484

Accumulated income – 1,794 1,794 174 1,968 1,928  
  

  28,284 27,797 56,081 14,997 71,078 67,412

The excess of expenditure over investment income for Restricted Expendable funds arises through expenditure of the initial gift in accordance with the 

donors’ wishes.

Unrestricted 
Permanent

Restricted 
Permanent

Total 
Permanent

Restricted 
Expendable

2015 
Total

2014 
Total
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Balance at 1 August 2014 1,591 2,462 29 1,083 5,165

Additions 107 – – – 107

Change in market value 94 137 2 53 286

Income 86 80 1 28 195

Expenditure (112) (80) (1) (28) (221)

Balance at 31 July 2015 1,766 2,599 31 1,136 5,532

Number of funds 5 2 2 9 18

Type of fund

Connected charitable institutions

A number of charitable institutions are administered by or on behalf of the University and have been established for its general or special purposes. 
As a result, under paragraph 28 of Schedule 3 to the Charities Act 2011, these connected institutions are exempt from registration with the Charity 
Commission. The movements in the year on the total funds of all connected institutions were as follows:

44
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  Consolidated

  2015 2014

  £’000 £’000

26. General reserves

At 1 August  117,611 109,617

Surplus after depreciation of fixed assets and taxation 27,905 12,089

Appreciation of current asset investments 4,114 –

Actuarial loss in respect of pension plan (5,449) (4,095)

At 31 July  144,181 117,611

  University

At 1 August  119,008 110,985

Surplus after depreciation of assets and taxation 28,004 12,118

Appreciation of current asset investments 4,114 –

Actuarial loss in respect of pension plan (5,449) (4,095)

At 31 July  145,677 119,008

  Consolidated University

  2015 2015

  £’000 £’000

Represented by:   

General reserve excluding pension reserve 178,408 179,904

Pension reserve (34,227) (34,227)

  144,181 145,677
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  2015 2014

  £’000 £’000

27.  Reconciliation of consolidated operating surplus 
to net cash inflow from operating activities

Surplus before tax but including non-recurring items 27,735 10,398

Depreciation  21,519 19,949

Deferred capital grants released to income (8,805) (8,921)

Deferred capital grants on disposal (61) (9)

Investment income (1,586) (1,473)

Profit on sale of general investments (140) (256)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 20 13

Profit on disposal of fixed asset property (385) (691)

Interest payable 5,639 5,503

Pension cost less contributions payable (296) 574

Decrease in stocks 34 26

Increase in debtors (53) (3,339)

(Decrease) / Increase in creditors (972) 2,314

Deferred capital grants transferred (to) / from creditors (994) 553

Decrease in provisions (170) (64)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 41,485 24,577
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  University Loans University Investments Total

  £’000 £’000 £’000

28.  Analysis of changes in 
consolidated financing during the year

Balance at 1 August 2013 (103,602) 194 (103,408)

     

New (loans) / investments (20,000)                –  (20,000)

Capital repayments / other movements 3,245 (54) 3,191

        

Balance at 31 July 2014 (120,357) 140 (120,217)

     

New (loans) / investments (17,838) – (17,838)

Capital repayments / other movements 3,244 – 3,244

     

Balance at 31 July 2015 (134,951) 140 (134,811)

   2014 Cash Flows Other Changes 2015

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

29. Analysis of changes in net debt

Cash at bank and in hand:      

Endowment assets  8,681 (47)             – 8,634

Cash balances  46,118 (638)             –  45,480

    54,799 (685)             – 54,114

Debt due within one year  (3,245) (3,245) 3,245 (3,245) 
      

Debt due after one year  (117,112) (11,349) (3,321) (131,782)

      

Current asset investments - cash  1,972 27,160             – 29,132

   

   (63,586) 11,881 (76) (51,781)
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30. Pension costs

(a) Universities 
     Superannuation Scheme 

The University participates in the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined 
benefit scheme which is contracted out of 
the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets 
of the scheme are held in a separate fund 
administered by the trustee, Universities 
Superannuation Scheme Ltd.

The appointment of directors to the board 
of the trustee is determined by the trustee 
company’s Articles of Association. Four of the 
directors are appointed by Universities UK; 
three are appointed by the University and 
College Union, of whom at least one must be 
a USS pensioner member; and a minimum of 
three and a maximum of five are independent 
directors appointed by the board. Under the 
scheme trust deed and rules, the employer 
contribution rate is determined by the 
trustee, acting on actuarial advice.

The University is required to contribute 
a specified percentage of payroll costs to 
the scheme to fund the benefits payable to 
members. In 2015 the percentage was 16% 
(2014:16%). The University is unable to 
identify its share of the underlying assets and 
liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis and therefore, as required 
by FRS17 “Retirement Benefits” accounts 
for the scheme as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme.

The total cost charged to the Income and 
Expenditure account was £16,807,000 
(2014: £15,958,000). This includes 
£2,084,000 (2014: £1,339,000) 
outstanding contributions at the balance 
sheet date. The disclosures below represent 
the position from the scheme’s draft financial 
statements.

The latest triennial actuarial valuation of 
the scheme was at 31 March 2014 (“the 
valuation date”) which was carried out using 
the projected unit method and is currently 
being audited by the scheme auditor. Based 
on this 2014 valuation it is expected that the 
employer contributions will increase to 18% 
from 1 April 2016. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime 
introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding 
objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At 
the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £41.6 billion and the value of the 
scheme’s technical provisions was £46.9 billion indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. The assets 
therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits which had accrued to members after allowing 
for expected future increases in earnings. 

FRS17 liability figures have been produced for the scheme using the following assumptions:

The main demographic assumption used relates to mortality. Mortality in retirement is assumed to be 
in line with standard mortality tables provided by Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) as follows:

 2015 2014

 £’000 £’000

Discount rate 3.3% 4.5%

Pensionable salary growth 3.5 in the first year  4.4% 

 and 4.0% thereafter 

Price inflation (CPI) 2.2% 2.6%

 

 Males members’ mortality  S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – no age rating

 

 Females members’ mortality S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – rated down 1 year

Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience. To allow for further 
improvements in mortality rates, the CMI 2009 projections with a 1.25% pa long term rate were also 
adopted for the 2014 FRS17 figures, and for the March 2015 figures the long term rate has been 
increased to 1.55% and the CMI 2014 projections adopted, and the tables have been weighted by 
98% for males and 99% for females.



30. Pension costs continued

(a) Universities Superannuation Scheme - continued

The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are:

Males (females) currently aged 65    24.2 (26.3) years 

Males (females) currently aged 45    26.2 (28.6) years

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Existing benefits 2015 2014

Scheme assets £49.0bn £41.6bn

FRS17 liabilities £67.6bn £55.5bn

FRS17 deficit £18.6bn £13.9bn

FRS17 funding level  72% 75%



30. Pension costs continued 

(b) Durham University Pension Scheme 

The University sponsors the Durham University Pension Scheme (the Plan) which provides benefits based on final pensionable salary for University employees not 
eligible for membership of Universities Superannuation Scheme. The assets of the Plan are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The last full actuarial 
valuation of this Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 6 April 2012 and updated on an approximate basis to 31 July 2015. The recovery 
plan arising out of the valuation is dependent on the reversion of gilt yields to more normal levels within five years. If this does not happen the University has 
agreed to make additional cash contributions which could amount to £1.1m.

The scheme was formerly called the University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969) and changed its name to Durham University Pension Scheme on 1st 
August 2013.

The contributions made by the employer to the Plan over the financial year have been £3,093,000 (2014: £2,411,000) including an exceptional contribution 
of £600,000 in relation to deficit recovery (2014 : £nil). These contributions are equivalent to 13% of pensionable pay. This rate includes an allowance for 
expenses and death in service insurance premiums payable. 

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the Plan at 6 April 2012 updated to 31 July 2015. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Present values of plan liabilities, fair value of assets and deficit

 2015 2014

 £’000 £’000

   

Present value of plan liabilities   

 (124,135) (109,291)

Fair value of plan assets   

 89,908 80,217

Net liability   

 (34,227) (29,074)

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of plan liabilities

   

Present value of plan liabilities at 1 August 109,291 99,474

   

Current service cost 3,642 3,449

Interest cost 4,436 4,454

Contributions by members 52 51

Actuarial losses  9,680 4,849

Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums (2,992) (3,010)

Past service costs 26 24

   

Present value of plan liabilities at 31 July 124,135 109,291

 

50



     
  2015  2014  

  £’000  £’000 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances  
of the fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at 1 August 80,217 75,069

Expected return on plan assets 4,460 4,100

Actuarial gain  4,231 754

Contributions by employer 3,940 3,253

Contributions by members 52 51

Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums (2,992) (3,010)

    

Fair value of plan assets at 31 July 89,908 80,217

 

 2015 2014  

 £’000  £’000 

Analysis of the charge to the income and expenditure account

Analysis of operating charge   

Current service cost (3,642) (3,449)

Past service cost  (26) (24)

Operating charge (3,668) (3,473)

    

Analysis of pension finance cost  

Expected return on plan assets 4,460 4,100

Interest on plan liabilities (4,436) (4,454)

Pension finance cost 24  (354)

    

Total cost (3,644) (3,827)

Amount recognised in Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses

Actual return less expected return on plan assets 4,231 754

Experience gains arising on plan liabilities 190 485

Change in financial and demographic assumptions underlying the plan liabilities (9,870) (5,334)

 (5,449) (4,095)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of total recognised  

gains and losses since the year ended 31 July 2002 is losses of £27,576,000 (2014: £22,179,000).
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(b) Durham University Pension Scheme - continued
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  2015 2014  

  £’000  £’000 

Plan assets and expected rates of return

The assets of the plan were invested as follows:

Equities 51,319 41,960

Bonds UK Corporate 11,502 10,411

Bonds UK Government 8,335 11,331

Absolute return 9,071 8,373

Property 8,954 7,684

Cash 727 458  

     

  89,908 80,217

The expected long-term rates of return are as follows: 2015 2014 

  % % 

Equities 7.00 7.25 

Bonds UK Corporate 3.55 4.05

Bonds UK Government 2.70 3.25

Absolute return 6.00 6.25

Property 7.00 7.25

Cash 0.50 0.50

The expected long term return on corporate bonds is equal to the discount rate used to value the liabilities. This is based on the annualised yield on the 
AonHewitt GBP Select AA Curve at a duration of approximately 20 years. The expected rate of return on equities and property has been determined as the 
inflation assumption used to value the liabilities, plus the dividend yield on the FTSE All Share Index, plus an allowance for real dividend growth.

Assumptions

The plan’s liabilities have been calculated using the following principal actuarial assumptions:

  2015 2014  

  % per annum % per annum

RPI inflation 3.20 3.25

Salary increases 4.00 4.00

Rate of discount for plan liabilities 3.55 4.05

Increases to pensions in payment - minimum 3% 3.60 3.70

Increases to pensions in payment - maximum 2.5% 2.20 2.10

Revaluation rate for deferred pensioners (CPI) 2.10 2.25

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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(b) Durham University Pension Scheme - continued 
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Amounts for the current  
and previous four years

Fair value of assets 89,908 80,217 75,069 65,812 63,541 

Present value of plan liabilities (124,135) (109,291) (99,474) (93,906) (70,262) 

Deficit in plan (34,227) (29,074) (24,405) (28,094) (6,721) 

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities 190 485 3,536 293 1,318 

Experience adjustment on plan assets 4,231 754 5,646 (1,907) 1,677 

         

Effects of changes in the demographic and  

financial assumptions underlying the present  

value of the plan liabilities (9,870) (5,334) (5,173) (20,294) (832) 

Estimate of contributions to be paid to plan 
The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the plan for the year beginning 1 August 2015 is £3,450,000.

(c) NOW Pensions

In response to the government’s requirement for all employers to introduce automatic enrolment into a pension scheme for eligible staff, the University 
has appointed NOW Pensions to provide its workplace pension scheme for automatic enrolment. NOW Pensions provides a money purchase scheme which 
invests employer and employee contributions to provide a member specific fund that will be converted into pension on the member’s retirement. 

Employer contributions are currently 1% and employees pay 1%. The cost to the University during 2014/15 was £83,000 (2014: £77,000).

2015 
£’000 

2014 

£’000

2013 

£’000

2012 

£’000

2011 

£’000
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30. Pension Costs continued

(b) Durham University Pension Scheme - continued

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 July 2015 imply the following life expectancies: 

 Male current pensioners (from age 65) 21.0 years

 Male future pensioners (from age 65) 22.3 years

Discount rate Increase by 0.1% Decrease by £2.0 million

Mortality underpin Decrease by 0.25% Decrease by £1.6 million

Assumption Change in 
assumption

Effect on liability

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below:
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31. Capital commitments

   Consolidated University

   2015 2014 2015 2014  

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commitments approved  36,989 33,017 36,989 33,017

32. Financial commitments

At 31 July 2015 the University and the Group had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:   

  

   Land & Buildings Other Land & Buildings Other 

   2015 2015 2014 2014  

   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Leases expiring:      

 

Within one year       6  6       – 3 

Between two and five years  103        354 111         301 

Over five years      967        –        775            –

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

30. Pension Costs continued 

(d) NHS Pension Scheme

The University employs a small number of staff who, due to their background, participate in the NHS Pension Scheme. The University is not able to 
identify its share of the assets and liabilities of the scheme and therefore accounts only for contributions paid which amounted to £37,000 (2014: 
£29,000).
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33. Related Party Transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of Council (being drawn from local public and private organisations) it is inevitable 
that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of Council may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which 
a member of Council may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal 
procurement procedures.

The following transactions were identified for disclosure under Financial Reporting Standard 8: Related Party Disclosures:

 Receipts Payments 
 £’000 £’000

Academy of Social Services – 2

Antiquity Publications Ltd 93 –

Applied Graphene Materials 58 –

Cambridge University Press 2 23

College Junior Common Room Societies 111 170

Durham Cathedral Dean & Chapter 101 114

Durham Students Union – 840

Food & Environment Agency 57 –

Foreign & Commonwealth Office 3 –

International Centre for Life – 3

London Mathematics Society 7 1

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS Trust 1 28

Queen Mary’s School 1 –

St Chad’s College 33 635

St John’s College 44 676

Virtual Centre Ltd – 15

The University makes payments on behalf of and is re-imbursed by Durham Students Union (“DSU”). The University does not exercise day to day control 
over the affairs of DSU. 

The University has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS8 not to disclose transactions with other members of the Group.

The University accounts for transactions relating to those Durham Student Organisations and Experience Durham which elected to opt in to a framework 
enabling them to operate within the organisational and governance structure of the University. There remain three student organisations that elected to 
remain independent and the values of transactions with them are included above as College Junior Common Room Societies.
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  2015 2014  

  £’000  £’000 

34. External Funds

(a) Access funds

Funding Council grants – 125

Interest earned – 1

  – 126

Disbursed to students – (126) 

Balance at 31 July – –

(b) NCTL bursaries

Funding Council grants 1,519 1,872

Payments to trainees (1,501) (1,869)

Due for recovery by NCTL (included in Creditors Note 20) 18 3

Included in Creditors falling due within one year (note 20) is £18,000 relating to hardship loans granted to students which have been repaid. This sum is 

therefore available for issue as further loans to students. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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35. Investments in subsidiary companies

The companies in which the University has a major interest and whose results are consolidated in these statements are as follows:

Name Principal Activities Percentage of Shares and Class

Durham University Investments Ltd Intermediate holding company 100% Ordinary shares

Durham University Developments Ltd* Property trading 100% Ordinary shares

Durham University Conference and Provision of conference and 100% Ordinary shares 
Tourism Ltd*  tourist facilities

Durham Women’s Football Club Ltd* Football club activities 100% Ordinary shares

All of the above companies are incorporated in England and Wales 

*These shares are held indirectly

The University also held investments in the following companies which have been set up to carry out spin-off businesses.  

The results of these companies are not included in the consolidated statements.

Durham Translators Ltd ** 38.4% Ordinary shares

FSCAN Ltd *** 24.9% Ordinary shares

GeoEnergy Durham *** 24.9% Ordinary shares

Geospatial Research Ltd *** 24.0% Ordinary shares

Bayes Linear Systems Ltd *** 22.0% Ordinary shares

Olexys Ltd ***  22.0% Ordinary shares

Concept analyst Ltd *** 20.0% Ordinary shares

Virtual Centre. Com Ltd 15.0% Ordinary shares

Durham Magneto Optics Ltd 15.0% Ordinary shares

Gamble De Grussa Ltd 10.9% Ordinary shares

Goliath Wind Ltd 6.6% Ordinary shares

Lyrachem Ltd 4.86% Ordinary shares

P2I Ltd 2.2% Ordinary shares

Synergis Technologies Ltd 1.0% Ordinary shares

** Not consolidated because an application has been submitted for the company to be struck off
*** Not consolidated because at 31 July 2015 the University did not exercise effective control over these companies.

Other companies are not consolidated because the level of shareholding is below 20%

The University also holds investments in companies established jointly by several Universities:

N8 Ltd Research  12.5% share (company limited by guarantee)
CVCP Properties Plc Property  0.9% Ordinary shares
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